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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
February 25, 2015 
 
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition, results of operations, and cash 
flow of the PHX Energy Services Corp. (“PHX Energy” or the “Corporation”) should be read in conjunction with the 
Corporation’s annual audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the 
accompanying notes contained therein, as well as other sections contained within the Corporation’s 2014 annual report.  
Readers can also obtain additional information on the Corporation from its Information Circular and Annual Information Form 
(“AIF”) filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. This MD&A has been prepared taking into consideration information available up 
to and including February 25, 2015.  
   
PHX Energy’s audited annual financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 has been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  The MD&A and audited annual financial statements 
were reviewed by PHX Energy’s Audit Committee and approved by PHX Energy’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 
February 25, 2015. 
 
 

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information and 
Statements  
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and statements within the meaning of applicable securities laws.  The 
use of "expect", "anticipate", "continue", "estimate", "objective", "ongoing", "may", "will", "project", "could", "should", "can", 
"believe", "plans", "intends", "strategy" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking information or statements. 
 
The forward-looking information and statements included in this MD&A are not guarantees of future performance and should 
not be unduly relied upon. These statements and information involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements 
and information.  The Corporation believes the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements and information are 
reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. Such forward-looking statements 
and information included in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon.  These forward-looking statements and information 
speak only as of the date of this MD&A. 
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In particular, forward-looking information and statements contained in this MD&A include, without limitation: 

• Velocity Real-Time guidance platform (“Velocity”)is expected to be commercial in 2015, 

• the Corporation’s Board of Directors has approved the 2015 capital expenditure budget of $16.0 million, with  
$11.5 million allocated toward new equipment additions and the remainder allocated toward maintenance capital,  

• PHX Energy’s outlook is that 2015 will be a challenging year, 

• PHX Energy’s objective in reducing its dividend is to preserve the strong balance sheet that the record 2014-year 
created, and to be poised for future opportunities that may arise including those related to the strategic objectives 
in progress, such as Velocity deployment, 

• the new gyro surveying division is expected to further add to the growth of PHX Energy’s US operations in the 
upcoming periods, 

• the planned capital expenditures are expected to be financed from a combination of one or more of the following, 
cash flow from operations, the Corporation’s unused credit facilities or equity, if necessary. However, if a sustained 
period of market and commodity price uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2015, the Corporation's 
activity levels, cash flows and access to credit may be negatively impacted, and the expenditure level would be 
reduced accordingly. Conversely, if future growth opportunities present themselves, the Corporation would look at 
expanding this planned capital expenditure amount, and 

• the Corporation's ability to maintain the current level of dividends to its shareholders is dependent upon the 
realization of cash flow from operations, and if the Corporation does not meet its budgeted cash flow from 
operations, dividends to shareholders may be reduced. 
 

The above are stated under the headings:  “About PHX Energy”, “Overall Performance”, “Operating Costs and Expenses”, 
“Segmented Information”, “Liquidity”, and “Cash Requirements for Capital Expenditures”.  In addition, statements regarding 
the expected impact of adopting Future Changes in Accounting Policies and all information contained within the Financial 
Instruments, Business Risk and Outlook section of this report contains forward-looking statements. 
 
In addition to other material factors, expectations and assumptions which may be identified in this MD&A and other 
continuous disclosure documents of the Corporation referenced herein, assumptions have been made in respect of such 
forward-looking statements and information regarding, among other things: the Corporation will continue to conduct its 
operations in a manner consistent with past operations; the general continuance of current industry conditions; anticipated 
financial performance, business prospects, impact of competition, strategies, the general stability of the economic and 
political environment in which the Corporation operates; exchange and interest rates; tax laws; the sufficiency of budgeted 
capital expenditures in carrying out planned activities; the availability and cost of labour and services and the adequacy of 
cash flow; debt and ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms to fund its planned expenditures, which are subject to 
change based on commodity prices; market conditions and future oil and natural gas prices; and potential timing delays. 
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Although Management considers these material factors, expectations and assumptions to be reasonable based on 
information currently available to it, no assurance can be given that they will prove to be correct.  
 
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not exhaustive.  Additional information on these and other 
factors that could affect the Corporation's operations and financial results are included in reports on file with the Canadian 
Securities Regulatory Authorities and may be accessed through the SEDAR website (www.sedar.com) or at the 
Corporation's website.  The forward-looking statements and information contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by 
this cautionary statement.  The Corporation does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-
looking statements or information, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be 
required by applicable securities laws. 
 
 

About PHX Energy Services Corp. 
 
The Corporation, through its directional drilling subsidiary entities, provides horizontal and directional drilling technology and 
services to oil and natural gas producing companies in Canada, the US, Albania, and Russia. PHX Energy manufactures its  
E-360 electromagnetic (“EM”) and P-360 positive pulse measurement while drilling (“MWD”) technologies that are made 
available for internal operational use. As the result of an acquisition completed in November 2013, PHX Energy provides 
electronic drilling recorder (“EDR”) technology and services, through Stream Services (“Stream”), formerly RigManager 
Services. 
 
PHX Energy’s Canadian directional drilling operations are conducted through Phoenix Technology Services LP. The 
Corporation maintains its corporate head office, research and development, Canadian sales, service and operational centres 
in Calgary, Alberta. In addition, PHX Energy has a facility in Estevan, Saskatchewan. PHX Energy’s US operations, conducted 
through the Corporation’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. (“Phoenix USA”), is headquartered 
in Houston, Texas. Phoenix USA has sales and service facilities in Houston, Texas; Traverse City, Michigan; Casper, 
Wyoming;  Denver, Colorado; Fort Worth, Texas; Midland, Texas; Buckhannon, West Virginia; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and 
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Internationally, PHX Energy has sales offices and service facilities in Albania and Russia, and 
administrative offices in Nicosia, Cyprus and Luxembourg City, Luxembourg.  
 
PHX Energy markets its EDR technology and services in Canada through its Stream Services division, which has an office and 
operations center in Calgary, Alberta. EDR technology is marketed worldwide outside Canada through its wholly-owned 
subsidiary Stream Services International Inc. (formerly RigManager International Inc.); mainly in Albania and Mexico. On June 
1, 2014, all RigManager divisions were rebranded as Stream Services. The objective behind this was to establish a brand 
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name which more accurately reflects the innovative technology that this division provides and to signify to the market that the 
division has transformed itself from a data delivery service to a service provider who transforms data into powerful information 
that can increase drilling efficiencies.  
 
PHX Energy, in collaboration with leading edge engineering companies in North America, is in the process of developing new 
technologies. One of these technologies is Velocity Real-Time guidance platform (“Velocity”), which is in the latter phase of 
development and is expected to be commercial in 2015. As part of the development process PHX Energy has been field 
testing a fleet of Velocity systems for clients across North America. Velocity is designed to improve reliability and provide 
innovative mechanical, directional, and formation measurements to enhance the drilling process.  
 

As at December 31, 2014, PHX Energy had 1,289 full-time employees and the Corporation utilized over 400 additional field 
consultants in 2014.   
 
The common shares of PHX Energy trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol PHX. 
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Financial Highlights  
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts, percentages and shares outstanding) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Operating Results (unaudited) (unaudited)      

Revenue  152,881 115,543 32  521,467 380,663 37 
Net earnings (3) (4) 16,220 7,501 116  36,995 20,858 77 
Earnings per share – diluted (3) (4) 0.46 0.23 100  1.05 0.70 50 
EBITDA (1) (3) (4) 29,040 17,611 65  83,671 56,930 47 
EBITDA per share – diluted (1) (3) (4) 0.82 0.54 52  2.38 1.92 24 
Cash Flow        
Cash flows from operating activities  23,686 17,367 36  41,350 35,378 17 
Funds from operations (1)  28,543 15,161 88  82,263 53,160 55 
Funds from operations per share – diluted (1) 0.81 0.46 76  2.34 1.79 31 
Dividends paid  7,383 6,058 22  29,191 21,433 36 
Dividends per share (2) 0.21 0.19 11  0.84 0.73 15 
Capital expenditures  12,521 13,272 (6)  68,282 41,818 63 
        
Financial Position, December 31,         
Working capital      80,974 66,580 22 
Long-term debt      104,281 70,208 49 
Shareholders’ equity      199,961 198,477 1 
Common shares outstanding     35,237,839 34,218,974 3 

(1) Refer to non-GAAP measures section. 
(2) Dividends paid by the Corporation on a per share basis in the period. 
(3) Excludes the impairment loss on goodwill in the 2014-periods. 
(4) Excludes the gain on sale of land and operations centre, the write-down of technological assets, and the gains from pre-existing ownership interest in  
    acquired subsidiaries in the 2013-periods. 
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Non-GAAP Measures 
 
PHX Energy uses certain performance measures throughout this MD&A that are not recognizable under Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These performance measures include earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortization (“EBITDA”), EBITDA per share, funds from operations, funds from operations per share and senior debt to 
EBITDA ratio. Management believes that these measures provide supplemental financial information that is useful in the 
evaluation of the Corporation’s operations and are commonly used by other oil and natural gas service companies. Investors 
should be cautioned, however, that these measures should not be construed as alternatives to measures determined in 
accordance with GAAP as an indicator of PHX Energy’s performance. The Corporation’s method of calculating these 
measures may differ from that of other organizations, and accordingly, these may not be comparable. Please refer to the 
non-GAAP measures section.     
 
 

Overall Performance  
 
PHX Energy achieved the highest level of annual revenue, operating days, EBITDA, net earnings, and funds from operations 
in its history.   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Corporation generated consolidated revenue of $521.5 million as compared to 
$380.7 million in the 2013-year; an increase of 37 percent.  Excluding the $15.0 million impairment loss on goodwill in the 
2014-year and the gain on sale of land and operations centre of $2.2 million, the write-down of technological assets of $1.2 
million, and the gains from pre-existing ownership interest in acquired subsidiaries of $14.8 million in the 2013-year, EBITDA 
increased by 47 percent to $83.7 million in 2014 as compared to $56.9 million in 2013 and net earnings increased by 77 
percent to $37.0 million in 2014 from $20.9 million in 2013. The Corporation’s funds from operations were $82.3 million in 
2014, which is 55 percent greater than the $53.2 million achieved in 2013.   
 
The Corporation’s Canadian and US segments both reported record levels of annual revenues and operating days in 2014.  
PHX Energy’s US operations achieved significant year-over-year growth, and in the 2014-year revenue from the US segment 
represented 54 percent of consolidated revenue compared to 48 percent in 2013.  Activity in the Corporation’s international 
operations remained strong with the segment’s revenue representing 10 percent of consolidated revenue as compared to 13 
percent in 2013. 
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As at December 31, 2014, $22.4 million of goodwill relating to Stream was tested for impairment.  Using the “value in use” 
approach with various assumptions Management deemed reasonable, it was determined that the carrying value of the 
Stream business unit exceeded its fair value by $15.0 million.  As a result, a corresponding impairment loss was recognized 
in the 2014-quarter. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, $68.3 million in capital expenditures were incurred and PHX Energy’s job capacity 
increased by 31 concurrent jobs to 228.  Of these, 111 MWD systems were deployed in Canada, 102 in the US, 9 in Russia, 
and 6 in Albania. In addition, the Corporation has a worldwide resistivity while drilling (“RWD”) job capacity of 17. The 
Corporation, in 2014, closed its Colombian operations.  
 
The Corporation’s capital expenditures were financed from a combination of cash flow from operations and borrowings under 
the Corporation’s credit facilities. On December 12, 2014, the Corporation amended and restated its syndicated loan 
agreement with its current lending syndicate and additional syndicate members to increase its credit facilities to CAD$175 
million and US$25 million.  Under the amended syndicated loan agreement, the syndicated facility can be expanded through 
the exercise of an additional CAD$50 million accordion option to the Canadian revolving line of credit.  The maturity date was 
amended to December 12, 2018 and can be extended annually, provided that the requested new maturity date does not 
exceed four years. As at December 31, 2014, the syndicated facility and US operating facility had an aggregate carrying 
amount of $104.3 million classified as a non-current liability. 
 
As previously announced, the Corporation’s Board of Directors has approved the 2015 capital expenditure budget of  
$16.0 million, with $11.5 million allocated toward new equipment additions and the remainder allocated toward maintenance 
capital.     
  
For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Corporation paid dividends of $0.84 per share to its shareholders (2013 - $0.73 
per share), or $29.2 million (2013 - $21.4 million).  PHX Energy ended 2014 with a cash dividend payout ratio of 35 percent 
(cash dividends paid divided by funds from operations). 
 
Given the contracting industry that has resulted from depressed commodity prices, PHX Energy’s outlook is that 2015 will be 
a challenging year. The Corporation has taken many pro-active cost-cutting measures, including personnel and salary 
reductions, and in-line with these initiatives is announcing that the Board of Directors has approved a 50 percent reduction to 
its dividend from $0.84 per share per year ($0.07 per share per month) to $0.42 per share per year ($0.035 per share per 
month) effective for the March dividend payable on April 15, 2015. PHX Energy’s objective is to preserve the strong balance 
sheet that the record 2014-year created, and to be poised for future opportunities that may arise including those related to 
the strategic objectives in progress, such as Velocity deployment.   
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Key Drivers of the Corporation’s Business  
PHX Energy considers the following to be the key drivers of its business.  

• World demand for natural gas and oil commodities directly affect oil and natural gas prices. These in turn have 
a direct impact on the Corporation’s customers’ level of cash flows and their ability to fund capital drilling 
programs with the use of debt or equity financing, ultimately impacting PHX Energy’s activity levels.   

• New drilling technologies must be continually developed for the Corporation to further expand and meet the 
ongoing demands from its customers, oil and natural gas producing companies, for greater operating 
efficiencies.  

• Superior customer service and satisfaction must be delivered and achieved consistently in order to retain 
business. 

• The Corporation must attract, train and retain key personnel in order to ensure future growth. 

• Policies in areas such as taxation put in place by government authorities can affect the profitability and overall 
activity levels of the industry, the Corporation and its customers.  

 
 

Key Performance Measures 
There are several performance measures that are used by the Corporation to assess its performance relative to its strategies 
and goals, the most significant of which are:  

• EBITDA and EBITDA as a percentage of revenue; 

• gross profit margin; 

• cash dividend payout ratio;  

• the reliability of the Corporation’s equipment and ability to provide high quality services in the field; and  

• health and safety performance targets.  
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Industry Activity and Statistics  
In 2014, natural gas prices remained relatively steady with a decline occurring near the end of 2014, whereas oil commodity 
prices that improved in the first half of the year then began a sharp decline in the second half of the year. The downward 
trend in oil prices has continued into 2015 with prices reaching lows not seen in the last five years.   
 

Commodity Price Trends 
Source: Peters & Co. Limited 

          
 

Canadian Industry 
Activity levels in Canada during 2014 were relatively strong, with the 11,243 wells drilled remaining constant with the number 
of wells in the prior two years (2013 - 11,142, 2012 – 11,127 wells). Despite horizontal and directional drilling already 
dominating the industry, in 2014 the percentage increased to 95 percent of total drilling days as compared to 93 percent of 
total drilling days in 2013 and 92 percent of drilling days in 2012.  (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin) 
 
Drilling efficiencies are continuing to drive the industry; The number of meters drilled per well in the Western Canadian 
Sedimentary Basin (the “WCSB”) represented a new annual record in 2014. (Source: Peters & Co Limited)  Due to higher 
resource play activity, operating days per well also increased, and the most active plays in 2014 were the Montney, Deep 
Basin and Viking. In addition, the Duvernay showed a material increase in activity with the well count nearly doubling, 
growing from approximately 86 wells in 2013 to approximately 150 wells in 2014. Capital spending by producers overall was 
relatively flat, with a slight increase in conventional spending being offset by a similar decrease in oil sands spending. 
Canadian producers did realize improved cash flow in 2014, due to the favorable commodity prices in the first half of the 
year. (Source: Peters & Co. Limited)  
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WCSB Well Profile Summary 
Source: Peters & Co. Limited  

 

 

Canadian Producers Estimated Conventional  
Capital Spending & Cash Flow 
Source: Peters & Co. Limited 
(in billions) 
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US Industry  
Overall US activity levels increased in 2014 by 6 percent with an average of 1,860 rigs running per day as compared to 1,761 
rigs in 2013. (Source: Baker Hughes) The majority of this growth related to oil well drilling, which increased by 4 percent as a 
result of activity in the Permian, Anadarko, Mississippian, Niobrabra and Utica Basins (see chart below). The US continues to 
shift toward a greater number of horizontal wells (2014- 68 percent, 2013 – 63 percent).  Despite greater drilling efficiencies 
being achieved, the number of days per well remained relatively flat due to the greater length of the horizontal wells drilled. 
As in Canada, the effects of the lower oil commodity prices was felt near the end of the year, with the rig count dropping by 
approximately 100 rigs in the first weeks of 2015.  (Source: Peters & Co. Limited) 
  

US Gas and Oil Directed Rig Count 
Source: Peters & Co. Limited 
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Results of Operations  
Three-Month Period and Year Ended December 31, 2014 

 

Revenue  
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 
Revenue 152,881 115,543 32  521,467 380,663 37 
 
For the second consecutive quarter, PHX Energy generated the highest level of quarterly revenue in its history. Consolidated 
revenue for the fourth-quarter of 2014 was $152.9 million compared to $115.5 million in the comparable 2013-quarter, an 
increase of 32 percent. Consolidated operating days increased by 20 percent to an all-time record of 11,492 days in 2014 
from 9,541 days in the 2013-quarter.  For the three-month period ended December 31, 2014, Canadian and US operations 
both achieved record levels of activity and revenue for any quarter. 
 
Average consolidated day rates for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014, excluding the motor rental division in 
the US and the Stream division, increased to $12,712 which is 7 percent higher compared to the day rates of $11,830 
realized in the fourth quarter of 2013.   
 
In the fourth quarter of 2014, both the Canadian and US industry experienced increased utilization of horizontal and 
directional drilling technologies.  The increase was aided by the ongoing adoption of pad drilling in order to improve utilization 
rates, which consequently adds to the demand for horizontal and directional drilling services.  In Canada, horizontal and 
directional drilling activity represented approximately 96 percent of total industry drilling days in the fourth quarter of 2014 
(2013 – 93 percent). In the US, horizontal and directional activity levels increased to represent 82 percent of the rigs running 
per day in the 2014-quarter (2013 – 77 percent). (Sources: Daily Oil Bulletin and Baker Hughes)  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, PHX Energy generated all-time record consolidated revenue of $521.5 million, a 37 
percent increase compared to 2013 revenue of $380.7 million.  US and international revenue, as a percentage of total 
consolidated revenue, was 54 and 10 percent, respectively, for the 2014-year as compared to 48 and 13 percent in 2013.  
Consolidated operating days increased by 24 percent to a record 39,222 days compared to 31,722 days in 2013.  Average 
consolidated day rates for the year ended December 31, 2014, excluding the motor rental division in the US and the Stream 
business, increased by 8 percent to $12,720 from $11,737 in 2013.   
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Operating Costs and Expenses 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Direct costs 119,666 93,293 28  414,570 307,680 35 

Depreciation & amortization 
    (included in direct costs) 8,990 6,362 41  32,128 24,403 32 
Gross profit as percentage of revenue  
    excluding depreciation & amortization 28% 25%   27% 26%  
 
Direct costs are comprised of field and shop expenses, and include depreciation and amortization on the Corporation’s 
equipment.  Excluding depreciation and amortization, gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 28 percent for the 
three-month period ended December 31, 2014 as compared to 25 percent in the 2013-quarter. For the year ended 
December 31, 2014, gross profit as a percentage of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization, increased to 27 
percent as compared to 26 percent in 2013.  The margin improvement realized in both 2014-periods was mainly due to 
stronger activity levels and higher day rates achieved. 
 
For the fourth quarter and 2014-year, the Corporation’s third party equipment rentals were 4 percent of consolidated 
revenue, as compared to 3 percent of revenue in the corresponding 2013-periods.     
 
Depreciation and amortization for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 increased by 41 percent to $9.0 million 
as compared to $6.4 million in the 2013-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, depreciation and amortization 
increased by 32 percent to $32.1 million from $24.4 million in 2013.  The increase in both periods is the result of the 
Corporation’s high level of capital expenditures in 2013 and 2014 and depreciation and amortization expenses associated 
with the Stream division.  
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014 2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) costs 13,881 13,491 3  56,982 43,632 31 
Share-based payments (included in SG&A costs) 151 301 (50)  772 1,061 (27) 

SG&A costs excluding share-based payments  
    as a percentage of revenue 9% 11%   11% 11%  
 
SG&A costs for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 increased slightly by 3 percent to $13.9 million as 
compared to the $13.5 million incurred in the 2013-period.  Included in SG&A costs for the 2014 and 2013-quarters are 
equity-settled share-based payments of $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively.  Excluding these costs, SG&A costs as a 
percentage of consolidated revenue improved to 9 percent in the 2014 three-month period compared to 11 percent in the 
2013-period.   
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, SG&A costs increased by 31 percent to $57.0 million as compared to $43.6 million 
in 2013.  Excluding equity-settled share-based payments of $0.8 million in the 2014-year and $1.1 million in the 2013-year, 
SG&A costs as a percentage of consolidated revenue were 11 percent in both periods.  
 
The increase in SG&A costs, in dollar terms, in both 2014-periods was mainly due to higher personnel and marketing related 
costs associated with overall increased activity, particularly in the US, and SG&A costs associated with the Stream division. 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments relate to the amortization of the fair values of issued options of the Corporation using 
the Black-Scholes model.  In the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014, equity-settled share-based 
payments decreased by 50 percent and 27 percent, respectively, as compared to the corresponding 2013-periods.  The 
decrease is mainly due to the Corporation’s increased utilization of retention awards in rewarding employees.  
 
Cash-settled share-based retention awards, which are included in SG&A costs, are measured at fair value.  In the 2014-
quarter, the related compensation expense recognized by PHX Energy is a recovery of $1.4 million as compared to an 
expense of $1.2 million in the 2013-quarter.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, the compensation expense related to 
cash-settled share-based retention awards decreased to $1.3 million from $2.9 million in 2013.  The decrease in both 2014-
periods was mainly due to the re-valuation of the retention awards based on the decrease in PHX Energy’s stock price from 
$12.54 as at December 31, 2013 and $13.72 as at September 30, 2014 to $7.48 as at December 31, 2014. 
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 
 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 
Research and development expense (418) 565 (174)  1,995 2,004 - 
 
During the three-month period ended December 31, 2014, PHX Energy recognized a net recovery of $0.4 million in research 
and development (“R&D”) expenses compared to an expense of $0.6 million in the 2013-period.  The recovery is mainly 
comprised of $1.0 million of R&D expenses offset by scientific research and experimental development (“SR&ED”) tax credits 
of $1.4 million received during the 2014-quarter.  During both the 2014 and 2013-quarters, none of the R&D expenditures 
were capitalized as development costs.    
 
For both the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, R&D expenditures incurred were $2.0 million, none of which were 
capitalized as development costs.      
 
Excluding the recovery from SR&ED tax credits in the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014, R&D 
expenses increased to $1.0 million and $3.4 million, respectively, from $0.6 million and $2.0 million in the comparative 2013-
periods.  The increase in R&D expenditures in both 2014-periods is mainly attributable to increased personnel in the R&D 
department who are working on cost saving and reliability initiatives to enhance PHX Energy’s services. 
 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Finance expense 1,308 1,131 16  4,232 4,789 (12) 
 
Finance expenses relate to interest charges on the Corporation’s long-term and short-term bank facilities. For the three-
month period ended December 31, 2014, finance charges increased by 16 percent to $1.3 million from $1.1 million in the 
2013-period primarily due to higher debt levels in the 2014-quarter compared to the 2013-quarter.  For the year-ended 
December 31, 2014, finance charges decreased by 12 percent to $4.2 million from $4.8 million in 2013 mainly due to the 
lower amount of borrowings outstanding during 2014.  
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
  2014 2013   2014 2013 

Net gain on disposition of drilling equipment  859 3,488   4,729 7,419 
Provision for bad debts  (158) (88)   (1,170) (60) 
Foreign exchange gains (losses)  (402) 297   64 (232) 
Gains from pre-existing ownership interest in  
   acquired subsidiaries  - 14,758   - 14,758 

Gain on sale of land and operations centre  - -   - 2,196 
Write-down of technological assets  - -   - (1,245) 

Other income  299 18,455   3,623 22,836 
 
For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014, included in other income are net gains on disposition of 
drilling equipment of $0.9 million (2013 - $3.5 million) and $4.7 million (2013 - $7.4 million), respectively. The dispositions of 
drilling equipment relate primarily to equipment lost in well bores that are uncontrollable in nature. The gain reported is net of 
any asset retirements that are made before the end of the equipment's useful life and self-insured down hole equipment 
losses, if any. Gains typically result from insurance programs undertaken whereby proceeds for the lost equipment are at 
current replacement values, which are higher than the respective equipment's book value. During both 2014-periods, the 
decrease in the reported gain on disposition of drilling equipment is primarily due to a greater number of self-insured down 
hole equipment losses and scrapped assets. 
 
Offsetting other income for the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014 is provision for bad debts of $0.2 
million (2013 - $0.1 million) and $1.2 million (2013 - $60,000), respectively, that relate primarily to Russian receivables.  
 
Foreign exchange losses of $0.4 million and foreign exchange gains of $64,000 in the three-month period and year ended 
December 31, 2014, respectively, resulted mainly from the strengthened US dollar’s impact on USD-denominated trade 
payables in Canada offset by its impact on Canadian-denominated payables in the US. 
 
In the comparative 2013-periods, a total gain of $14.8 million was recognized from the re-measurement to fair value of the 
Corporation’s pre-existing ownership interests in acquired subsidiaries.  This gain is comprised of a gain of $11.3 million 
related to the re-measurement of RMS Systems Inc. ($15.0 million less the $3.7 million carrying amount of equity-accounted 
investee at the acquisition date) and a gain of $3.4 million related to the re-measurement of RigManager International Inc. 
($7.0 million less the $3.6 million carrying amount of equity-accounted investee at the acquisition date).  Also included in 
other income in the 2013-year was a gain of $2.2 million that resulted from the sale of land and an operations centre in 
September, 2013 and a $1.2 million write-down of certain assets, whereby the technology is no longer being utilized. 
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Impairment loss on goodwill 15,000 - n.m.  15,000 - n.m. 
n.m. - not meaningful 

 
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.  As a result of the impairment testing performed as of December 31, 
2014, the Corporation recognized a $15.0 million impairment loss on goodwill that relates to Stream.    
 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars except percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014 2013  2014 2013 

Provision for income taxes 2,523 2,618  10,315 6,880 
Effective tax rates 67% 11%  32% 16% 
 
The provision for income taxes for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 was $2.5 million as compared to  
$2.6 million in the 2013-period.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, the provision for income taxes was $10.3 million as 
compared to $6.9 million in 2013. The expected combined Canadian federal and provincial tax rate for 2014 is 25 percent.  
The effective tax rates in the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014 were higher than the expected rates 
primarily due to the non-deductibility of the impairment loss on goodwill for tax purposes.  The effective tax rates in the 2013-
periods were lower than the expected rates primarily due to non-taxable accounting gains from the re-measurement to fair 
value of pre-existing ownership interests in acquired subsidiaries in 2013.  
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(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts and percentages) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2014(1) 2013(2) % Change  2014(1)  2013(2) (3) % Change 
Net earnings 16,220 7,501 116  36,995 20,858 77 
Earnings per share – diluted 0.46 0.23 100  1.05 0.70 50 
EBITDA 29,040 17,611 65  83,671 56,930 47 
EBITDA per share – diluted 0.82 0.54 52  2.38 1.92 24 
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue 19% 15%   16% 15%  

(1) Excludes impairment loss on goodwill. 
(2) Excludes gains from the re-measurement to fair value of pre-existing ownership interests in acquired subsidiaries. 
(3) Excludes gain on sale of land and operations centre and the write-down of technological assets. 
 
The Corporation’s level of net earnings for the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014 increased to $16.2 
million and $37.0 million, respectively, primarily due to record activity levels and overall improved profitability achieved.  
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue for the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014 was 19 percent and 16 
percent, respectively (2013 - 15 percent and 15 percent). Included in the earnings for the 2014-quarter and twelve-month 
period were losses of $1.7 million and $5.1 million, respectively, from the Stream division (2013 - losses of $0.6 million and 
$1.9 million). 
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Segmented Information 
 
The Corporation reports three operating segments on a geographical basis throughout the Canadian provinces of Alberta, 
Saskatchewan, British Columbia, and Manitoba; throughout the Gulf Coast, Northeast and Rocky Mountain regions of the 
US; and internationally, mainly in Albania and Russia.   
 
 

Canada  
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014 2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Revenue 59,333 47,521 25  190,692 146,896 30 
Reportable segment profit before tax 1,670 3,152 (47)  16,208 22,285 (27) 
 
PHX Energy’s Canadian operations generated the highest level of quarterly revenue and operating days in its history.  In the 
fourth quarter of 2014, revenue increased by 25 percent to $59.3 million from $47.5 million in the 2013-quarter, and 
operating days increased by 17 percent to 5,291 days from 4,520 days in the 2013-quarter.  In comparison, total industry 
horizontal and directional drilling activity, as measured by drilling days, was 3 percent higher in the 2014-quarter, 31,556 
days, compared to the 2013-quarter’s 30,493 days.  (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin)  Average day rates, excluding Stream 
revenue of $2.0 million, increased by 4 percent to $10,830 in the 2014-quarter compared to $10,387 in the 2013-quarter.  
 
In the fourth quarter of 2014, PHX Energy maintained its well-diversified client base, with oil well drilling representing 57 
percent of the Corporation’s Canadian activity. PHX Energy had a very strong presence in the Montney area and was also 
active in the Shaunavon, Bakken, Lloydminster, Cardium and Viking areas. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2014, PHX Energy’s Canadian revenue increased to $190.7 million, 30 percent higher 
than the $146.9 million generated in the 2013-year. The increase in revenue was primarily driven by the Canadian segment’s 
all-time record annual operating days of 16,952 days, which is a 22 percent increase compared to 13,912 days generated in 
the 2013-year.  In comparison, Canadian industry activity, as measured by drilling days, increased by 9 percent to 119,263 
days in the 2014-year as compared to 109,824 days in 2013. (Source: Daily Oil Bulletin) Average day rates, excluding 
Stream revenue of $7.4 million, increased by 3 percent to $10,815 in the 2014-year compared to $10,517 in 2013.  
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Reportable segment profit before tax for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 decreased to $1.7 million  
(3 percent of revenue) from $3.2 million (7 percent of revenue) in the 2013-period.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, 
reportable segment profit before tax decreased to $16.2 million (8 percent of revenue) from $22.3 million (15 percent of 
revenue) in 2013. Included in the Canadian segment’s profits in both 2014-periods was an impairment loss of $15.0 million 
on goodwill related to the Stream division and operating losses from the Stream division of $1.6 million in the 2014-quarter 
and $6.1 million in the 2014-year.  Excluding the impact of the impairment loss on goodwill, reportable segment profit before 
tax increased to $16.7 million (28 percent of revenue) in the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 and increased to 
$31.2 million (16 percent of revenue) in the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to the corresponding 2013-periods.  
Improved profitability, excluding the impairment loss on goodwill, in both the three and twelve-month periods ended 
December 31, 2014 was generally due to record activity levels and higher average day rates realized during these periods.     
 
 

United States 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014 2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Revenue 80,125 53,094 51  279,418 182,695 53 
Reportable segment profit before tax 302 4,348 (93)  17,232 4,688 268 
 
For each quarter of 2014, PHX Energy’s US operations consecutively achieved all-time record levels of quarterly revenue 
and operating days.  For the three-month period ended December 31, 2014, revenue from the US segment increased by 51 
percent to $80.1 million compared to revenue of $53.1 million generated in the 2013-period.  The Corporation’s US operating 
days also increased by 31 percent to 5,046 days from 3,851 days in the 2013-quarter.  These successes were mainly the 
result of market share growth in all US operating regions driven by the high level of performance of PHX Energy’s equipment 
and field personnel. Average day rates, excluding the motor rental division in Midland, Texas and the Rocky Mountain 
region, increased by 13 percent in the 2014-quarter to $14,934 compared to $13,242 in the 2013-quarter. The US dollar 
remained stronger during the 2014 three-month period and this continued to positively impact the average day rate.     
 
The US industry continued to shift toward applying horizontal and directional techniques and in the fourth quarter of 2014, 
the average number of horizontal and directional rigs running on a daily basis increased by 16 percent to 1,560 rigs, which 
represented 82 percent of overall industry activity compared to the 2013-quarter’s 1,348 rigs, which represented 77 percent 
of overall industry activity. (Source: Baker Hughes)   
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Despite lower oil commodity prices toward the end of the 2014-year, oil well drilling, as measured by wells drilled and 
excluding the motor rental division, in the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 represented 63 percent of PHX 
Energy’s US activity. Phoenix USA remained active in the Permian, Eagle Ford, Bakken, Mississippian/Woodford, Marcellus, 
Niobrara and Utica basins during the 2014-quarter.   
 
In 2014, PHX Energy’s US operations also generated the highest level of annual revenue and operating days in its history.  
For the year ended December 31, 2014, US revenue increased by 53 percent to $279.4 million from $182.7 million reported 
in the 2013-year.  The Corporation’s US operating days also increased by 31 percent to 18,287 days in the 2014-year 
compared to 13,985 days in 2013.  In comparison, US industry activity, as measured by the average number of horizontal 
and directional rigs running on a daily basis, increased by 12 percent to 1,483 rigs in 2014 compared to 1,326 rigs in 2013. 
(Source: Baker Hughes)   Excluding the motor rental division in Midland, Texas, and the Rocky Mountain region, Phoenix 
USA’s average day rates increased by 16 percent to $14,449 in 2014 from 12,509 in 2013.   
 
Reportable segment profit before tax for the three-month period ended December 31, 2014 decreased to $0.3 million from 
$4.3 million (8 percent of revenue) in the comparative 2013-period.   The US segment’s profits in the 2014-quarter were net 
of lease expenses charged for its use of non-US owned drilling equipment, the ownership of which is with a subsidiary of the 
Corporation.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, reportable segment profit before tax increased to $17.2 million  
(6 percent of revenue) from $4.7 million (3 percent of revenue) in 2013.  The improved margins realized in 2014 were 
primarily the result of higher activity and improved day rates achieved during the year.  
 
The motor rental division in Midland, Texas and the Rocky Mountain region continued to develop during the year.  Revenue 
generated from this division in 2014 increased to $15.2 million, 96 percent greater than the $7.8 million generated in the 
2013-year.  In addition, PHX Energy has expanded its service offering in the Permian basin and a new gyro surveying 
division became operational in October, 2014. This new division is expected to further add to the growth of PHX Energy’s US 
operations in the upcoming periods.  
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International  
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013 % Change  2014  2013 % Change 

Revenue 13,423 14,928 (10)  51,357 51,072 1 
Reportable segment profit before tax 4,695 4,258 10  12,571 13,156 (4) 
 
The international segment reported its highest reportable segment profit before tax in the fourth quarter of 2014, despite the 
strong devaluation of the Russian ruble and the decline in oil prices at the end of 2014.  For the three-month period ended 
December 31, 2014, the international segment generated $13.4 million of revenue, which is 10 percent lower than the $14.9 
million generated in the corresponding quarter in 2013.  Activity in the quarter, as measured by operating days, was similar to 
that reported in the fourth quarter of 2013, 1,155 days (2013 - 1,170 days).  Reportable segment profit before tax in the 
fourth quarter of 2014 increased to $4.7 million, which represents a 10 percent increase from the $4.3 million generated in 
the corresponding 2013-quarter.     
 
For the three-month period ending December 31, 2014, Phoenix Russia’s operating days decreased by 6 percent as 
compared to the corresponding 2013-quarter.  The Russian operations in the 2014-quarter were strong, despite the 
devaluation of the Russian currency, the tightened financial markets and the corresponding impact on the industry.  Clients 
seeking pricing concessions, suppliers looking to achieve pricing increases, and costs for key personnel and equipment 
being Canadian dollar-denominated have all impacted the Russian operations. Despite all this, previous efforts to reduce 
international staff and source local materials for maintenance, spares and rentals have partly alleviated the negative impact 
of the devaluing ruble and the Russian operations reported positive profitability results in the 2014-quarter.     
 
Phoenix Albania recorded record activity in the fourth quarter of 2014.  As measured by operating days, Phoenix Albania’s 
activity increased by 33 percent compared to the corresponding 2013-period.  Due to pricing concessions with the company’s 
primary client in Albania, profitability was impacted in the 2014-quarter.  In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Corporation added 
a new client and this work has evolved into turnkey directional drilling services which has provided the Corporation with a 
platform to further the field careers of the Albanian personnel that account for 48 percent of all personnel dedicated to 
Albania.    
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In 2014, overall performance of the international segment was negatively impacted by the closure of the Colombia operation 
and the Russian economic and business environment.  Despite this, international operations’ activity increased from  
3,825 operating days in 2013 to 3,984 operating days in 2014; a 4 percent increase.  International segment revenue for the 
year remained relatively flat year-on-year at $51 million.  Reportable segment profit before tax, however, decreased to  
$12.6 million in 2014 from 13.2 million in 2013, primarily due to weaker profitability in Russia in the first three quarters of 
2014 and pricing concessions in Albania.   
 
  

Liquidity  
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31, Years ended December 31, 

 2014 2013  2014  2013 
Funds from operations 28,543 15,161  82,263 53,160 
 

    Dec. 31, ‘14 Dec. 31, ‘13 

Working capital    80,974 66,580 
 
Funds from operations increased from $15.2 million in the 2013-quarter to $28.5 million in the three-month period ended 
December 31, 2014.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, funds from operations increased to $82.3 million from  
$53.2 million in 2013.  The increase in funds from operations in both 2014-periods was mainly due to strong activity levels 
and greater overall profitability achieved during these periods.     
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation had working capital of $81.0 million, which was $14.4 million higher than the 
$66.6 million reported at December 31, 2013.  The significant increase in working capital was primarily driven by greater 
activity during the 2014-quarter, which resulted in a higher level of trade and other receivables at the end of the year.  As at 
December 31, 2014, the Corporation had CAD$74.5 million and US$17.0 million available to be drawn from its credit 
facilities. 
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Cash Flow and Dividends  
As a dividend paying corporation, PHX Energy typically declares monthly dividends to its shareholders.  The Corporation 
continually reviews its dividend rates, including on a quarterly basis, and takes into consideration its own financial 
performance, forecasted activity levels and the industry outlook. The actual amount of future monthly dividends is proposed 
by Management and is subject to the approval of the Board.  The Board reviews future dividends in conjunction with their 
review of quarterly financial and operating results. The Corporation's ability to maintain the current level of dividends to its 
shareholders is dependent upon the realization of cash flow from operations, and if the Corporation does not meet its 
budgeted cash flow from operations, dividends to shareholders may be reduced. Activity levels in the industry are seasonal, 
and as a result, cash flow will fluctuate. Despite these fluctuations, PHX Energy’s policy is to try to pay a consistent level of 
dividends throughout the year.  
 
For the three-month period and year ended December 31, 2014, dividends of $7.4 million (2013 – $6.1 million) and  
$29.2 million (2013 – $21.4 million), respectively, were financed from the Corporation’s funds from operations.  
 
 

Investing Activities  
 
Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $62.9 million as compared to $21.5 million in 
2013. During the 2014-year, PHX Energy added $50.7 million net in capital equipment (2013 - $28.4 million). These capital 
equipment amounts are net of proceeds from the involuntary disposal of drilling equipment in well bores of $17.6 million 
(2013 - $13.4 million). The 2014 capital expenditures included: 

• $27.6 million in MWD systems and spare components; 

• $16.4 million in down hole performance drilling motors; 

• $6.9 million in non-magnetic drill collars and jars; 

• $5.4 million in machinery and equipment for global service centres; 

• $4.1 million in leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures;  

• $3.1 million in gyro equipment and vehicles; 

• $2.5 million in EDR systems and spare components; and 

• $2.3 million in other assets, including software, network, and computers. 
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The capital expenditure program undertaken in the year was financed from a combination of funds from operations, long-
term debt, and working capital.  

During the year, the Corporation spent $9.7 million in intangible assets as follows: 

• $7.0 million related to a license agreement;  

• $1.6 million in technology development; 

• $0.7 million in systems and software; and 

• $0.4 million in development costs. 

The change in non-cash working capital balances of $2.5 million (use of cash) for the year ended December 31, 2014, 
relates to the net change in the Corporation’s trade payables that are associated with the acquisition of capital assets. This 
compares to $10.8 million (source of cash) for the year ended December 31, 2014.  
 
 

Capital Expenditures 
 
(In millions of dollars) 

 

 
 
PHX Energy has undertaken significant annual capital asset expansion programs since 2010 in-line with increases in its 
activity levels.   

 $48.4   $49.3   $51.5  

 $41.8  

 $68.3  

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
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Financing Activities  
 
The Corporation reported cash flows from financing activities of $18.9 million in 2014 as compared to $12.5 million (use of 
cash) in 2013. In the 2014-year: 

• the Corporation paid dividends of $29.2 million to shareholders, or $0.84 per share; 

• through its option and DRIP program the Corporation received cash proceeds of $10.6 million from exercised 
options and reinvested dividends to acquire 1,018,865 common shares of the Corporation; and 

• the Corporation received net proceeds from its operating facility and syndicated facility in an aggregate of 
$37.7 million to finance its capital expenditure program. 

 

Capital Resources  
 
On December 12, 2014, the Corporation amended and restated its syndicated loan agreement with its current lending 
syndicate and additional syndicate members to increase its credit facilities to CAD$175 million and US$25 million.   
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation has access to a CAD$15 million operating facility.  The facility bears interest 
based primarily on the Corporation’s debt to EBITDA ratio, as defined in the restated agreement.  At the Corporation’s option, 
interest is at the bank’s prime rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 0.50 percent to a maximum of 1.75 percent, 
or the bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 1.50 percent to a maximum of 2.75 
percent.  As of December 31, 2014, the Corporation had $5.5 million drawn on this facility. 
 
As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation also has access to a CAD$160 million syndicated facility and a US$25 million 
operating facility in the US.  The facilities bear interest at the same rates disclosed above.  Based on the amended and 
restated terms of the Corporation’s syndicated loan agreement with its bank, the new maturity date is on December 12, 2018 
and can be extended annually, provided that the requested new maturity date does not exceed four years.  As at December 
31, 2014, CAD$95 million was drawn on the syndicated facility and US$8 million was drawn on the US operating facility. 
 
Upon request by the Corporation and approval by the lenders, the syndicated facility can also be expanded by an additional 
CAD$50 million accordion option to the Canadian revolving line of credit.   
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Under the amended syndicated loan agreement, the working capital ratio requirement was removed from the financial 
covenants.  As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation was in compliance with all its financial covenants as follows: 
 

Ratio Covenant   As at December 31, 2014 
Debt to EBITDA  < or = 3.00:1.00  1.28 
Interest coverage ratio > or = 3.00:1.00  20.31 

 
The credit facilities are secured by substantially all of the Corporation's assets. 
 
 

Cash Requirements for Capital Expenditures  
 
Historically, the Corporation has financed its capital expenditures and acquisitions through cash flows from operating 
activities, debt and equity. As previously announced, the 2015 capital budget has been set at $16.0 million subject to 
quarterly review of the Board of Directors.  These planned expenditures are expected to be financed from a combination of 
one or more of the following, cash flow from operations, the Corporation’s unused credit facilities or equity, if necessary. 
However, if a sustained period of market and commodity price uncertainty and financial market volatility persists in 2015, the 
Corporation's activity levels, cash flows and access to credit may be negatively impacted, and the expenditure level would be 
reduced accordingly. Conversely, if future growth opportunities present themselves, the Corporation would look at expanding 
this planned capital expenditure amount.  
 
 

Contingent Liability 
 
a) As previously announced, the Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix USA, has been named in a legal action 

in Houston, Texas commenced by a former employee and was subsequently joined by two other employees (the 
"Claimants") alleging that they were improperly classified as exempt under the Fair Labour Standards Act and therefore 
entitled to unpaid overtime.  Legal actions involving similar alleged violations have been filed in the United States 
against a number of other drilling companies.   

 
Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the action was conditionally certified as a collective action which may result in 
additional employees or former employees of Phoenix USA joining the action.  Phoenix USA has filed a defense to the 
action and intends to vigorously defend the same.  Based upon an assessment of latest information available and 
certain assumptions the Corporation believes to be reasonable at this time, PHX Energy believes it has a number of 
defenses to the claims asserted and the action is not currently believed to be material to the Corporation.     
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b) On February 20, 2015, the Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix USA, was named in a second legal action in 

Houston, Texas commenced by two former consultants (the "Claimants") alleging that they were improperly classified 
as independent contractors (as opposed to employees) under the Fair Labor Standards Act and are entitled to unpaid 
overtime.  Legal actions involving similar legal theories have been filed in the United States against a number of other 
drilling companies. 

 
Given the recent filing of this lawsuit, Phoenix USA is in the early stages of its investigation into the subject matter and 
facts and has not yet been served with the lawsuit.  The Claimants assert that a class of similarly situated individuals 
retained as consultants or contractors should be conditionally certified and notified of the lawsuit and allowed to join.  
However, no such motion to conditionally certify a class has been filed. Phoenix USA intends to file a defense to the 
action and vigorously defend the same including, without limitation, the conditional certification of the action.  Based 
upon the recent filing of the lawsuit, the ongoing initial investigation, and the potential available defenses, PHX Energy 
currently does not believe this action to be material to the Corporation. 
 

The Corporation does not undertake any obligation to update publicly the status of these actions whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be expressly required by applicable securities laws or the situation 
otherwise warrants. 
 
 
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 
The Corporation had no off-balance sheet arrangements as at December 31, 2014 and 2013, other than operating leases.  
 
 

Proposed Transactions  
 
The Corporation reviews and evaluates any material business acquisitions or capital asset divestitures in the normal course 
of its operations.  In 2014, the Corporation has budgeted to spend $16.0 million in capital equipment acquisitions.   
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Corporation are prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The Corporation’s 
significant accounting policies are described in its annual audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2014.  Management, in preparing these financial statements, is required to make estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses.  These estimates and judgments are based 
upon assumptions that are considered reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual results could differ from such estimates 
and judgments by a material amount.   
 
Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next 
financial year include the following: 

• estimated useful lives of drilling and other equipment and intangible assets, 

• key assumptions used in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets not yet in use,  

• recognition of deferred tax assets based on estimates of the availability of future taxable profit against which carry-
forward tax losses can be used, and 

• valuation of accounts receivable. 
 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements are: 

• determination of cash generating units,  

• assessment of key assumptions used in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets not yet in use, 

• assessment of information and assumptions relating to contingent liabilities, and 

• assessment of deferred income taxes as the Corporation operates in foreign jurisdictions where regulations are 
complex and different from Canada. 
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Future Changes in Accounting Policies  
 
Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards are effective for accounting 
periods beginning on after January 1, 2015.  These standards have not been applied in preparing these consolidated 
financial statements.  Those which may be relevant to the Corporation are set out below.   
 

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014) 
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement.  IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge 
accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial instruments 
from IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption 
permitted.  The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact that the standard will have on its results of operations and 
financial position and is assessing when adoption will occur. 
 

b) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much, and when revenue is recognized.  
It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue.  IFRS 15 is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation intends to adopt IFRS 15 
for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the standard 
will have on its results of operations and financial position. 
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Financial Instruments  
 

Credit Risk        
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 
development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline in 
economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation.  During the year 
ended December 31, 2014, one customer comprised 8 percent of the total revenue (2013 – 7 percent of revenue).  
 
As at December 31, 2014, the ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  2014 
Neither past due nor impaired  $ 73,442 
Past due 1-30 days   32,801 
Past due 31-60 days   11,246 
Past due 61-90 days   2,822 
Past due over 90 days   1,961 
  $ 122,272 

 
All accounts receivable balances that are past due for more than 90 days and were not impaired represent 2 percent or 
approximately $2.0 million of total receivables on the statement of financial position at December 31, 2014.  Management 
believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible in full, based on historic payment behavior and 
extensive analysis of customer credit risk.  Management has provided an allowance of $1.0 million for all amounts it 
considers uncollectable at December 31, 2014. 
 
The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting financial and 
other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors and manages its credit 
risk on an ongoing basis. 
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Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation 
has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure 
that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. Management typically forecasts cash 
flows for a period of twelve-months to identify financing requirements. These requirements are then addressed through a 
combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets.  The Corporation believes that future cash flows 
generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet 
its financial obligations. 
 

The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing operations 
as at December 31, 2014: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Operating facility 5,503 - - - - 
Loans and borrowings - - - 104,281 - 
Drilling and other equipment 
   purchase commitments 11,932 - - - - 

Finance leases 239 - - - - 
Trade and other payables  72,203 - - - - 
Dividends payable 2,467 - - - - 
Total  92,344 - - 104,281 - 

 
 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The Corporation has designated its trade and other payables and dividends payable as other financial liabilities carried at 
amortized cost.  Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized cost.  The 
Corporation’s carrying values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity of the 
instruments.  Loans and borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, and are measured at amortized 
cost.  The fair value of loans and borrowings included in the consolidated statement of financial position approximates 
carrying values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of interest. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market interest 
rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest payment 
amounts.  
 
A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $953,000. 
 
 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US, Russia, and Albania, the Corporation has an 
exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of Canadian dollar, US dollar, and Albanian lek (“ALL”) 
denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings are subject to foreign exchange risk.  For the year ended 
December 31, 2014, foreign exchange gains of $63,493 resulted mainly from fluctuations in the USD-CDN exchange rates.  
The Corporation reviews options with respect to managing its foreign exchange risk periodically. 
 
The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk: 
 

As at December 31, 2014  CAD  USD  ALL 
Cash and cash equivalents  -  1,328,344  177,907 
Trade and other receivables  -  136,205  - 
Trade and other payables   -  (2,417,709)  (4,594,593) 
Intercompany receivables  1,517,301  -  - 
Intercompany payables  (12,440,744)  -  - 
Statement of financial position exposure  (10,923,443)  (953,160)  (4,416,686) 

 

As at December 31, 2013  CAD  USD  ALL 
Cash and cash equivalents  -  688,182  16,774,597 
Trade and other receivables  -  425,261  - 
Trade and other payables   -  (5,913,001)  - 
Intercompany receivables  3,367,590  -  - 
Intercompany payables  (1,806,606)  -  - 
Statement of financial position exposure  1,560,984  (4,799,558)  16,774,597 
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The following significant exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31: 
 

 Average Rate  December 31, Close Rate 
 2014 2013  2014 2013 
USD 1.1048 1.0301  1.1601 1.0636 
ALL 95.6023 102.4181  99.5520 95.7000 
 
A strengthening of the Canadian dollar, US dollar, and Albanian lek against all other currencies as at December 31 would 
have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 

Gain (Loss)  2014  2013 
CAD (10% strengthening) $ (941,595) $ 146,764 
USD (10% strengthening)  (110,576)  (510,481) 
ALL (10% strengthening)  (4,437)  17,528 

 
 

Business Risk Factors  
 
The Corporation’s operations are subject to certain factors that are beyond its control. A significant portion of the 
Corporation’s operating costs are variable in nature, and as a result, the impact of a significant decline in demand for the 
Corporation’s services on its financial results is lessened. Management has identified herein certain key risks and 
uncertainties associated with PHX Energy’s business that could impact financial results. They include, but are not limited to: 
 

Commodity Price Volatility & Current Industry Environment 
With the significant drop in the price of crude oil that began in the second half of 2014, along with the recent decline in the 
price of natural gas, most oil and gas producers have announced reductions to their 2015 capital expenditure programs. As a 
service provider to the energy sector, PHX Energy will continue to work with its customers during this challenging time and 
adjust its strategies and expenditures as required. The full duration and effect of this slowdown will depend on a variety of 
factors that are difficult to predict and cash flows may be materially adversely affected.  
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Capital Requirements 
The Corporation’s revenues may decline because of a decrease in activity levels, and it may be required to reduce its 
planned capital expenditures. In addition, uncertain levels of near-term industry activity coupled with the uncertain global 
economy exposes the Corporation to additional capital risk.  There can be no assurance that debt or equity financing, or 
cash generated by operations will be available, or sufficient, to meet these capital expenditure requirements or for other 
corporate purposes, or if debt or equity financing is available, that it will be on terms acceptable to the Corporation.  The 
inability of the Corporation to access sufficient capital for its operations could have a material adverse effect on the 
Corporation's business financial condition, results of operations and prospects and therefore on dividends which may be 
declared to shareholders. 
 
 

Credit Risk  
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas exploration and 
development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be directly impacted by a decline in 
economic conditions, which would impair the customer’s ability to satisfy their obligations to the Corporation.     
 
 

Environmental Risks  
All phases of the oil and natural gas business present environmental risks and hazards and are subject to environmental 
regulation pursuant to a variety of federal, provincial and local laws and regulations. Compliance with such legislation can 
require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, some of which may be 
material. Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger 
fines and liability, and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. Implementation of strategies for 
reducing greenhouse gases could have a material impact on the nature of oil and natural gas operations, including those of 
the Corporation and the Corporation’s customers. Given the evolving nature of the debate related to climate change and the 
control of greenhouse gases and the possible resulting requirements, it is not possible to predict either the nature of those 
requirements or the impact on the Corporation and its operations and financial condition.  
 
 

Employees  
The success of the Corporation will be dependent upon key personnel. Loss of the services from such persons could have a 
material adverse effect on the business and operations of the Corporation. The ability of the Corporation to expand its 
services is dependent upon its ability to attract additional qualified employees.   
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Access to Equipment and Development of New Technology  
The ability of the Corporation to compete and expand is dependent upon it having access to certain drilling equipment and 
components at a reasonable cost, and upon its ability to develop or acquire new competitive technology. The Corporation 
purchases equipment from various suppliers in the oil and natural gas drilling service industry. There can be no assurance 
that these sources for equipment will be maintained. If such equipment is not available, and is not available from any other 
source, the Corporation’s ability to compete may be impaired.  
 
 

Competition  
The Corporation’s major competitors are principally large multinational companies with significantly greater resources 
available for marketing and R&D programs. The Corporation also competes with a number of other small and medium sized 
companies. Like the Corporation, these companies have certain competitive advantages, such as low overhead costs and 
specialized regional strengths. The Corporation’s ability to generate revenue depends on its ability to obtain contracts and to 
perform services within projected times and costs.  
 
 

Oil and Natural Gas Industry Risk  
There are risks associated with the provision of drilling services to the oil and natural gas industry. The Corporation may 
become liable for risks against which it may choose not to insure due to high premium costs, or which may exceed the limits of 
policy coverage. Interruptions and delays caused by adverse weather conditions, equipment failures or other events can 
significantly adversely affect revenue. While the Corporation will maintain liability insurance, the insurance is subject to 
coverage limits. There can be no assurance that insurance will continue to be available to the Corporation on commercially 
reasonable terms, that the possible types of liabilities that may be incurred by the Corporation will be covered by its insurance, 
or that the dollar amount of such liabilities will not exceed policy limits. Even a partially uninsured claim, if successful and of 
sufficient magnitude, could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and prospects.  
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Seasonality  
In general, the level of activity of the Canadian and certain parts of the US and international oilfield service industry is 
influenced by seasonable weather patterns. Wet weather and the spring thaw may make the ground unstable. Consequently, 
municipalities and provincial or state transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and 
other heavy equipment, thereby reducing activity levels. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located 
in areas that are inaccessible, except during winter months, because the ground surrounding or containing the drilling sites in 
these areas consists of swampy terrain known as muskeg.  
 
 

Foreign Operations  
The Corporation will conduct a certain portion of its business in the US, Albania, and Russia. Any change in government 
policies could have a significant impact on business. Risks of foreign operations include, but are not necessarily limited to 
changes of laws affecting foreign ownership, government participation, taxation, royalties, duties, rates of exchange, inflation, 
exchange control, sanctions, and repatriation of earnings. There are no assurances that the economic and political 
conditions in the countries in which the Corporation operates will continue as they are at the present time. The effect and 
impact of these factors cannot be accurately predicted.  
 
In addition, the Corporation is subject to the various additional risk factors described in the Corporation’s Annual Information 
Form, a copy of which can be found under the Corporation’s profile at www.sedar.com.  
 
 

Corporate Governance  
 
This MD&A has been prepared by the Management of PHX Energy and it has been reviewed and approved by the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors of the Corporation. Additional information relating to the Corporation’s Corporate 
Governance can be found in the Corporation’s Annual Information Form and Information Circular in respect of its annual 
meeting of Shareholders, each of which are annually filed on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.  
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 
The Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures.  Such officers have evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their 
supervision, the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures at the financial year end of the Corporation and have 
concluded that the Corporation’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective, at the financial year end of the 
Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to the Corporation is made known to the 
Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer by others, particularly during the period in which the annual 
and interim filings are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Corporation in its annual filings, 
interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time period specified in securities legislation. 
 
 

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting  
 
The Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed, or caused to be designed under their 
supervision, internal controls over financial reporting related to the Corporation, including its consolidated subsidiaries. Such 
officers have also evaluated, or caused to be evaluated under their supervision, the effectiveness of the Corporation’s 
internal controls over financial reporting at the financial year end of the Corporation, and have concluded that such internal 
controls over financial reporting are effective, at the financial year end of the Corporation, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of the Corporation’s financial reporting and preparation of financial statements together with other 
financial information for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 
 
In May of 2013, The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) released an updated 
Internal Control - Integrated Framework. The transition period for migrating from the 1992 framework to the 2013 framework 
is from May 2013 to December 15, 2014.  
 
PHX Energy has adopted the updated COSO Internal Control - Integrated Framework (“2013 COSO Framework”) as of 
January 1, 2014, and has assessed that the updated framework will not have a significant impact to the internal control 
testing or documentation. 
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The Corporation is required to disclose herein any change in the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting that 
occurred during the period beginning on October 1, 2014 and ending on December 31, 2014 that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting.  No material changes in 
the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting were identified during such period that has materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation’s internal controls over financial reporting. 
 
It should be noted that a control system, including the Corporation’s disclosure and internal controls and procedures, no 
matter how well conceived, can provide only reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control 
system will be met and it should not be expected that the disclosure and internal controls and procedures will prevent all 
errors or fraud. 
 
 

Outstanding Corporation Share Data  
 

(In thousands of shares)  As at February 25, 2015 
Common shares outstanding   35,303,168 
Dilutive securities:   
    Options 1,847,030 
Corporation shares – diluted 37,150,198 
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Selected Annual Financial Information  
 
The following selected annual financial information was obtained from the audited consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts)    

Years ended December 31, 2014(1) 2013(2) 2012 
Revenue 521,467 380,663 301,720 
Net earnings 36,995 20,858 17,707 
Earnings per share – basic 1.06 0.71 0.63 
Earnings per share – diluted 1.05 0.70 0.63 
Long-term debt 104,281 70,208 80,000 
Total assets 394,923 350,377 264,523 

(1) Excludes impairment loss on goodwill. 
(2) Excludes gains from the re-measurement to fair value of pre-existing ownership interests in acquired subsidiaries, gain on sale of land 

and operations centre and write-off of technological assets. 
 
PHX Energy has continually achieved record activity levels since 2012 and as a result, revenue increased by 26 percent from 
2012 to 2013 and increased by 37 percent from 2013 to 2014.  This strong trend of activity growth also made positive impact 
to the Corporation’s net earnings.  Excluding the gain on sale of land and operations centre, the write-down of technological 
assets, and the gains from pre-existing ownership interest in acquired subsidiaries in the 2013-year, as well as the $15.0 
million impairment loss on goodwill in the 2014-year, the net earnings increased by 18 percent from 2012 to 2013 and 
increased by 77 percent from 2013 to 2014. 
 
The increase in long-term debt in the 2014-year was used to finance capital expenditures made in the year; $68.3 million.  

As at December 31, 2014, PHX Energy’s total assets reached $394.9 million as a result of high activity levels, improved 
profitability, and continued capital expenditure expansion.  
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Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars except per share amounts) 

 Dec-14(1) Sept-14 Jun-14 Mar-14 Dec-13(2) Sept-13(3) Jun-13 Mar-13 
Revenue  152,881 138,971 100,484 129,131 115,543 106,971 65,483 92,667 
Net earnings (loss) 16,220 13,024 (1,062) 8,813 7,501 9,786 (4,735) 8,306 
Earnings (Loss) per share – basic  0.46 0.37 (0.03) 0.26 0.23 0.34 (0.16) 0.29 
Earnings (Loss) per share – diluted  0.46 0.37 (0.03) 0.25 0.23 0.34 (0.16) 0.29 
EBITDA 29,040 25,551 7,809 21,271 17,611 20,623 367 18,329 
EBITDA per share - diluted 0.82 0.72 0.22 0.61 0.54 0.71 0.01 0.65 

(1) Excludes impairment loss on goodwill. 
(2) Excludes gains from the re-measurement to fair value of pre-existing ownership interests in acquired subsidiaries. 
(3) Excludes gain on sale of land and operations centre and write-off of technological assets. 
 
Activity levels in western Canada vary considerably due to seasonal weather patterns. Traditionally, the first quarter of the 
calendar year is the most active for service companies due to cold weather, however, due to favorable commodity price 
levels in the latter part of the past two years the third and fourth quarters have been very active.  The ability to move heavy 
equipment in the Canadian oil and natural gas fields is dependent on weather conditions. As warm weather returns in the 
spring, the winter’s frost comes out of the ground rendering many secondary roads incapable of supporting the weight of 
heavy equipment until they have thoroughly dried out. The duration of this “spring break-up” has a direct impact on the 
Corporation’s activity levels. As a result, late March through May is traditionally the Corporation’s slowest time, as such, the 
operating results of the Corporation vary on a quarterly basis. The Corporation’s activity levels in the US and international 
regions are not impacted at the same level during this Canadian spring break-up period. 
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Outlook  
PHX Energy’s momentum continued to drive new records in 2014, with each quarter outperforming the year before, and as 
such, the year end results also set many new milestones for the Corporation as well as for each operating region.   
 
Unfortunately this achievement is now overshadowed by the reality of the year ahead; a year which began in a downward 
cycle and where weak commodity prices are likely to persist resulting in depressed industry activity. Operators’ capital 
budgets are in some cases being drastically reduced and the demand for PHX Energy’s services have been impacted. In this 
depressed environment competition is even greater and pricing pressures have already made it necessary for PHX Energy to 
reduce its day rates to remain active. There are many uncertainties in today’s market making forecasting difficult; it is likely 
that the industry slowdown will only steepen, and it is not known at this time when it will begin to rebound.  
 
The 2015 year will be a difficult one for our industry and will require focused and disciplined actions. To the benefit of 
shareholders PHX Energy has 20 years of industry experience and a management team that has been through past negative 
cycles. Our success in navigating these cycles is due to Management’s ability to provide strategic leadership to our 
exceptional personnel. PHX Energy has already enacted operational and financial initiatives in response to the unfavorable 
outlook, which include personnel and compensation reductions company-wide. In addition, to maintain a strong balance 
sheet, the Board has approved a reduction to its monthly dividend from $0.84 per share per year ($0.07 per share per 
month) to $0.42 per share per year ($0.035 per share per month) effective for the March dividend payable on April 15, 2015. 
The capital expenditure budget is conservative and is primarily focused on PHX Energy’s strategic direction to differentiate its 
service offering to respond to Operators’ demands for lower costs and to operate at higher margins. All expenses are being 
scrutinized as the Corporation’s current equipment fleet is expected to support 2015 activity.  PHX Energy believes swift and 
early actions were necessary to weather the upcoming year and Management will continue to monitor the environment and 
take further actions where required. 
 
In Canada, industry activity has been scaled back quicker than in past cycles, and PHX Energy expects rig counts to shrink 
further. It believes the market will enter a very slow spring break-up period earlier than in prior years and that this will be the 
low point in activity. In addition, the Corporation anticipates that the recovery in the summer months will be modest, and as a 
result is preparing for low utilization levels through the majority of the year in Canada. Despite cost reduction initiatives and a 
large and diversified client base, reduced revenues resulting from lower activity and day rates may not offset the cost 
structure that was built to sustain a much greater activity level.   
  
Over the past year, PHX Energy’s US operations have experienced noteworthy growth, however, as in Canada reductions in 
the industry’s rig count are impacting PHX Energy’s activity, although not as significantly. With Operators projecting minimal 
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capital spending, decreased activity levels will persist in the US. Despite this, PHX Energy believes that even in a contracted 
market there is an opportunity to grow its market share and build upon the reputation it has now established. 
 
PHX Energy’s international operations will also face challenges in the downgraded commodity environment. Albania is a 
country with vast reserves of heavy oil and the economics of drilling these wells relies on a higher oil price. As a result of the 
drop in oil prices, PHX Energy’s operations have decreased by approximately 50 percent and the Corporation predicts this 
activity level will continue until such time that oil commodity prices return to a more profitable level. In Russia, fourth quarter 
operation levels are being maintained thus far in 2015, however, the devaluation of the Russian ruble is impacting 
profitability. The Corporation is closely monitoring the economic and political issues surrounding Russia and will take actions 
as necessary. 
 
Despite the tough road ahead, 2015 is a milestone year for PHX Energy, as it marks the Corporation’s 20th year of operation. 
Through each downward cycle in the last 20 years, PHX Energy has not only survived but has been resilient and emerged 
stronger.  With a targeted strategy in place, PHX Energy believes that it will do the same in 2015. Although it is unlikely that 
financial and operational records set in 2014 will be surpassed in 2015, the Corporation believes its strong client 
relationships and operational performance will allow for an increase in market share in key operating areas albeit in a smaller 
market. 
 
 
 

 
John Hooks,    
Chairman of the Board 
President and Chief Executive Officer  
February 25, 2015  
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Non-GAAP Measures 
 

1) EBITDA  
 
EBITDA, defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, is not a financial measure that is 
recognized under GAAP. However, Management believes that EBITDA provides supplemental information to net earnings 
that is useful in evaluating the Corporation’s operations before considering how it was financed or taxed in various countries. 
Investors should be cautioned, however, that EBITDA should not be construed as an alternative measure to net earnings 
determined in accordance with GAAP. PHX Energy’s method of calculating EBITDA may differ from that of other 
organizations and, accordingly, its EBITDA may not be comparable to that of other companies. 
 
The following is a reconciliation of net earnings to EBITDA: 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 
 2014 2013  2014  2013 
Net earnings 1,220 22,259  21,995 36,567 
Add (deduct):      
Depreciation and amortization 8,989 6,362  32,128 24,403 
Provision for income taxes 2,523 2,617  10,315 6,880 
Finance expense 1,308 1,131  4,233 4,789 
Impairment loss on goodwill 15,000 -  15,000 - 
Gains from pre-existing ownership in  
   acquired subsidiaries - (14,758)  - (14,758) 

Gain on sale of land and operations centre - -  - (2,196) 
Write-down of technological assets - -  - 1,245 
EBITDA as reported 29,040 17,611  83,671 56,930 

  
EBITDA per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the exercise of the 
share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of EBITDA per share on a 
dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options. 
 

  



Management’s Discussion & Analysis 
 
 

 
-45- 

 
 

2) Funds from Operations 
 
Funds from operations is defined as cash flows generated from operating activities before changes in non-cash working 
capital, interest paid, and income taxes paid. This is not a measure recognized under GAAP. Management uses funds from 
operations as an indication of the Corporation’s ability to generate funds from its operations before considering changes in 
working capital balances and interest and taxes paid. Investors should be cautioned, however, that this financial measure 
should not be construed as an alternative measure to cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with 
GAAP. PHX Energy’s method of calculating funds from operations may differ from that of other organizations and, 
accordingly, it may not be comparable to that of other companies.   
 
The following is a reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to funds from operations: 
 
(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Three-month periods ended December 31,  Years ended December 31, 
 2014  2013  2014  2013 

Net cash flows from operating activities  23,686 17,367  41,350 35,378 
Add (deduct):      
Changes in non-cash working capital (7,513) (3,972)  24,364 12,254 
Interest paid 1,387 1,469  4,167 4,201 
Income taxes paid 10,983 297  12,382 1,327 
Funds from operations 28,543 15,161  82,263 53,160 

 
Funds from operations per share - diluted is calculated using the treasury stock method whereby deemed proceeds on the 
exercise of the share options are used to reacquire common shares at an average share price. The calculation of funds from 
operations per share on a dilutive basis does not include anti-dilutive options.  
 
 

3) Debt to EBITDA Ratio 
 
Debt is represented by loans and borrowings.  EBITDA, for purposes of the calculation of this covenant ratio, is represented 
by EBITDA as defined in Non-GAAP Measures above and adding share-based payments and unrealized foreign exchange 
losses.  
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Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders 
To the Shareholders of PHX Energy Services Corp.: 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of PHX Energy Services Corp., which comprise the 

consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, the consolidated statements 

of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 

our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we 

consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 

on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion. 

 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 

of PHX Energy Services Corp. as at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, and its consolidated financial performance 

and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants 

February 25, 2015 

Calgary, Canada 
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
 
    December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 

ASSETS 
 

    
   

Current assets: 
 

    
   

    Cash and cash equivalents 
 

$ 3,018,445 
 

$ 5,663,880 

 

Trade and other receivables 
 

  122,272,125 
  

97,660,559 

    Inventories (Note 5) 
 

  32,423,158 
  

30,024,019 

    Prepaid expenses     4,505,300     2,913,514 

 
Total current assets 

 
  162,219,028 

  
136,261,972 

Non-current assets: 
 

    
   

 

Drilling and other equipment (Note 6) 
 

  190,891,854 
  

165,771,615 

 

Goodwill (Note 7) 
 

  16,229,756 
  

31,229,756 

 
Intangible assets (Note 8) 

 
  25,581,960 

  
17,113,924 

  Total non-current assets     232,703,570     214,115,295 

Total assets   $ 394,922,598   $ 350,377,267 

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 

    
   

Current liabilities: 
 

    
   

 

Operating facility (Note 9) 
 

$             5,503,176  
 

$                      -    

 

Trade and other payables 
 

  72,203,463 
  

64,815,732 

 

Dividends payable (Note 11d) 
 

  2,466,649 
  

2,239,910 

 
Current tax liabilities 

 
  832,352  

  
2,410,198 

  Current portion of finance leases     238,911     215,697 

 
Total current liabilities 

 
  81,244,551 

  
69,681,537 

Non-current liabilities: 
 

    
   

 

Loans and borrowings (Note 9) 
 

  104,280,800 
  

70,208,400 

 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 10) 

 
  7,602,868 

  
9,833,710 

 
Deferred income 

 
  1,833,335 

  
1,966,667 

  Finance leases                              -        209,935 

 
Total non-current liabilities 

 
  113,717,003 

  
82,218,712 

Equity: 
 

    
   

 

Share capital (Note 11a) 
 

  178,650,340 
  

165,451,599 

 

Contributed surplus 
 

  4,513,265 
  

6,361,710 

 

Retained earnings 
 

  16,861,918 
  

24,284,690 

  Accumulated other comprehensive income     (64,479)     2,379,019 

 
Total equity 

 
  199,961,044 

  
198,477,018 

                

Total liabilities and equity   $ 394,922,598   $ 350,377,267 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.     
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 
 

Years ended December 31,     2014   2013 

Revenue (Note 16) 
 

$ 521,466,624 $ 380,663,302 

Direct costs (Note 13)     414,570,044   307,680,358 

Gross profit     106,896,580   72,982,944 

Expenses: 
 

        

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 13) 
   56,981,813   43,632,454 

Research and development expenses (Note 13) 
 

  1,994,744   2,004,384 

Finance expense 
 

  4,232,462   4,789,168 

Other income (Note 14)     (3,622,560)   (22,836,329) 

Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 7)   15,000,000  - 

   

  74,586,459   27,589,677 

Share of loss of equity-accounted investee  (net of tax) (Note 22) 
                      -   1,946,892 

              

Earnings before income taxes     32,310,121   43,446,375 

   
        

Provision for income taxes (Note 15) 
 

        

Current  
 

  13,164,824   3,572,010 

Deferred      (2,849,600)   3,307,688 

        10,315,224   6,879,698 

Net earnings     21,994,897   36,566,677 

Other comprehensive income 
 

        

  Foreign currency translation     (2,443,498)   4,010,860 

Total comprehensive income  
     for the period 

  
$ 19,551,399 $ 40,577,537 

Earnings per share – basic (Note 11c) 
 

$               0.63 $ 1.24 

Earnings per share – diluted (Note 11c)   $               0.63 $ 1.23 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
 

Year Ended Share Capital 

 Contributed Surplus 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income Retained Earnings Total Equity December 31, 2014 Number Amount ($) 

                      
 

Balance, December 31, 2013 34,218,974 $ 165,451,599 $ 6,361,710 $ 2,379,019 $ 24,284,690 $ 198,477,018 

                      
 

Issuance of share capital     1,018,865     10,578,496 
 

               -                     -                     -      10,578,496 

                        

Share-based payments                 -                   -         771,800 
 

                  -                     -           771,800 

                        

Fair value of options 
exercised 

               -      2,620,245 
 

 (2,620,245) 
 

                  -                     -                    - 

                        

Net earnings                -                   -                  -                     -       21,994,897          21,994,897 

                        

Foreign currency 
translation 

               -                   -                  -       (2,443,498) 
 

                  -      (2,443,498) 

                        

Dividends                -                   -                  -                     -      (29,417,669)     (29,417,669) 

                        

Balance, December 31, 2014 35,237,839 $ 178,650,340 $ 4,513,265 $ (64,479) $ 16,861,918 $ 199,961,044 

            

Year Ended Share Capital 

 Contributed Surplus 

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income Retained Earnings Total Equity December 31, 2013 Number Amount ($) 

                      
 

Balance, December 31, 2012 28,241,371 $ 99,101,118 $ 7,860,658 $ (1,631,841) $ 9,764,748 $ 115,094,683 

                      
 

Issuance of share capital       5,977,603        63,790,356 
 

                     -                            -                            -          63,790,356 

                        

Share-based payments                     -                          -            1,061,177 
 

                         -                            -            1,061,177 

                        

Fair value of options 
exercised 

                     -           2,560,125 
 

         (2,560,125) 
 

                         -                           -                         - 

                        

Net earnings                      -                          -                       -                            -         36,566,677         36,566,677 

                        

Foreign currency translation                    -                          -                      -             4,010,860 
 

                         -            4,010,860 

                        

Dividends                  -                          -                        -                           -        (22,046,735)       (22,046,735) 

                        

Balance, December 31, 2013 34,218,974 $ 165,451,599 $ 6,361,710 $ 2,379,019 $ 24,284,690 $ 198,477,018 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Years ended December 31,    2014   2013 

Cash flows from operating activities:     
  Net earnings $  21,994,897 $       36,566,677 

Adjustments for:         

   Depreciation and amortization        32,127,926         24,403,158 

   Provision for income taxes (Note 15)         10,315,224           6,879,698 

   Unrealized foreign exchange loss           1,513,243              581,933 

   Gain on disposition of drilling equipment (Note 14)       (4,729,399)      (7,419,366) 

   Equity-settled share-based payments (Note 12a)              771,800           1,061,177 

   Finance expense           4,232,462           4,789,168 

   Provision for bad debts (Note 14)           1,170,332                59,374 

   Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 7)  15,000,000  - 

   Amortization of deferred income           (133,332)                      - 

   Share of loss of equity-accounted investee                      -           1,946,892 

   Write-down of technological assets                      -           1,244,946 

   Gain on sale of land and operations centre                    -       (2,195,886) 

   Gains from pre-existing ownership interest in acquired subsidiaries (Note 14)                      -     (14,757,588) 

   Change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)     (24,363,823)     (12,254,284) 

Cash generated from operating activities        57,899,330         40,905,899 

   Interest paid        (4,167,669)        (4,200,775) 

   Income taxes paid     (12,381,716)       (1,327,187) 

Net cash from operating activities         41,349,945         35,377,937 

Cash flows from investing activities:         

   Proceeds on disposition of drilling equipment         17,562,375         13,435,619 

   Acquisition of drilling and other equipment (Note 6)     (68,282,231)     (41,818,387) 

   Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 8)       (9,703,989)       (4,344,168) 

   Acquisition of subsidiary, cash acquired (Note 22)                      -              334,150 

   Investment in pre-existing equity-accounted investee (Note 22)                      -       (4,200,000) 

   Proceeds from sale of land and operations centre (Note 23)                     -         23,100,000 

   Payments relating to the land and operations centre (Note 23)                    -     (18,904,114) 

   Change in non-cash working capital (Note 17)        (2,514,455)         10,849,065 

Net cash used in investing activities      (62,938,300) 
 

  (21,547,835) 

Cash flows from financing activities:         

   Proceeds from issuance of share capital (Note 11a)         10,578,496         40,622,300 

   Dividends paid to shareholders (Note 11d)      (29,190,931)     (21,432,880) 

   Proceeds from (Repayment of) loans and borrowings        32,238,900     (25,787,900) 

   Payments under finance leases           (186,721)                      - 

   Proceeds from (Repayment of) operating facility               5,503,176       (5,897,711) 

Net cash from (used in) financing activities        18,942,920     (12,496,191) 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents        (2,645,435)           1,333,911 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year           5,663,880           4,329,969 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $          3,018,445 $          5,663,880 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



Consolidated Financial Statements & Notes 

   

 

 

-51- 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
In Canadian dollars 
 

 1. Reporting Entity: 
 

PHX Energy is a publicly-traded Corporation listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”) under the symbol “PHX”.  The 

Corporation’s registered office is at Suite 1400, 250 - 2nd Street SW Calgary, Alberta Canada. 

 
The Corporation, through its subsidiaries, provides horizontal and directional drilling services, as well as web-based 

remote electronic drilling recorder (“EDR”) technology and services, to oil and natural gas exploration and development 

companies in Canada, United States, Albania, and Russia. The Corporation also develops and manufactures 

technologies that are made available for internal operational use. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries.   

 

 

 2. Basis of Preparation: 
 

a) Statement of Compliance 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”).  Details of the Corporation’s accounting policies, including changes during the year, are included in 

Notes 2 (f) and 3.   

 

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 

February 25, 2015.  
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b) Basis of Measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and using the historical cost 

basis except for liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements which are measured at fair value 

and included in trade and other payables in the statement of financial position. 

 

c) Functional and Presentation Currency 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s  

functional currency.  

 

d) Use of Estimates 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires Management to make 

estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the 

next financial year include the following: 

 estimated useful lives of drilling and other equipment and intangible assets, 

 key assumptions used in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets not yet in use,  

 recognition of deferred tax assets based on estimates of the availability of future taxable profit against 

which carry-forward tax losses can be used, and 

 valuation of accounts receivable. 

 

e) Critical Judgments 
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized 

in the consolidated financial statements are: 

 determination of cash generating units,  

 assessment of whether impairment indicators exist and impairment testing is required, 

 assessment of information and assumptions relating to contingent liabilities (see Note 21), and 

 assessment of deferred income taxes as the Corporation operates in foreign jurisdictions where 

regulations are complex and different from Canada. 
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f) Changes in Accounting Policies 
On January 1, 2014, the Corporation adopted the following new accounting standards that were previously issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board, with no material effect on the consolidated financial statements: 

 Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendments to IAS 32) 

 Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36) 

 IFRIC 21 Levies 

 

 

 3. Significant Accounting Policies: 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

a) Basis of Consolidation 
 

i. Business Combinations 

Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Corporation 

(see Note 3 (a) (ii)).  The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the 

identifiable net assets acquired.  Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment.  Any gain on a bargain 

purchase is recognized in profit or loss immediately.  Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, except if related 

to the issue of debt or equity securities. 

 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. In a 

business combination achieved in stages, the acquirer re-measures its previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and recognizes the resulting gain or loss, if any, in profit or loss. 

 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 

consideration is classified as equity, then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss. 
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ii. Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Corporation.  The Corporation controls an entity when it is exposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 

iii. Loss of Control 

When the Corporation loses control over a subsidiary it derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, 

and any other related components of equity.  Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.  Any interest 

retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost. 

 

iv. Investment in Associates 

Associates are those entities in which the Corporation has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over 

the financial and operating policies.  Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Corporation holds between 

20 percent and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. 

 

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized initially at cost.  The cost 

of the investments includes transaction costs.   

 

The consolidated financial statements include the Corporation’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of  

the Corporation, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. 

 

When the Corporation’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount 

of the investment, including any long-term interests that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 

further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Corporation has an obligation or has made payments  

on behalf of the investee. 
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v. Joint Arrangements 

Joint arrangements are arrangements of which the Corporation has joint control, established by contracts requiring 

unanimous consent for decisions about the activities that significantly affect the arrangements’ returns. They are 

classified and accounted for as follows: 

 Joint operation – when the Corporation has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating 

to an arrangement, it accounts for each of its assets, liabilities and transactions, including its share of 

those held or incurred jointly, in relation to the joint operation. 

 Joint venture – when the Corporation has rights only to the net assets of the arrangements, it accounts 

for its interest using the equity method, as for associates (see iv above).  

 

vi. Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions, are eliminated.  Unrealized gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are 

eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Corporation’s interest in the investee.  Unrealized losses are 

eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. 

 

vii. Foreign Currency Transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Corporation’s entities 

at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.  The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating 

to foreign currency transactions entered into by the Corporation’s entities, and to measure the foreign exchange 

risk arising on such transactions, depend upon whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary 

or non-monetary item.   

 

Receivables, liabilities and other monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are 

translated at the functional currency spot exchange rate at the statement of financial position date.  Exchange 

differences that arise between the rate at the transaction date and the one in effect at the payment date or the rate 

at the statement of financial position date are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as other 

income or expense. 

 
Drilling and other equipment, inventories and other non-monetary items purchased in foreign currencies and that 

are measured on the basis of historical cost are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 

transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 
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viii. Foreign Operations 

When entities, which prepare their financial statements in a functional currency other than Canadian dollars, are 

recognized in the consolidated financial statements, the income and expenses are translated at the monthly 

average exchange rates. The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Canadian dollars at the 

rate of exchange prevailing at the statement of financial position date.   

 

Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income in the accumulated other 

comprehensive income account. The exchange differences arising on the translation to the Corporation’s 

presentation currency are recognized directly in the cumulative translation reserve as a separate component of 

equity.  When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or 

joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified 

to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.   

 

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor 

likely in the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are 

considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognized in other comprehensive 

income, and are presented within equity in accumulated other comprehensive income.  

 

 

b) Financial Instruments 
 

i. Non-Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Corporation initially recognizes trade and other receivables on the date that they originate. All other financial 

assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date at 

which the Corporation becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, 

and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or 

to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

During the year, the Corporation had the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, and trade and other receivables. 
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Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash balances and deposits with original maturities of three-months 

or less. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment losses.  Loans and receivables are comprised of trade and other receivables. 

 

Other financial liabilities 

The Corporation initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are 

originated. All other financial liabilities are recognized initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Corporation derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

expire. 

 

The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: loans and borrowings, operating facility, trade 

and other payables, and dividends payable. 

 

Such financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value net of any directly attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective 

interest method. 

 

ii. Share Capital 

Common shares 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and 

share options are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 

 

Repurchase and reissue of common shares (treasury shares) 

When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 

attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognized as a deduction from equity.  Repurchased shares are 

classified as treasury shares and are presented in the treasury share reserve.  When treasury shares are sold or 

reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or 

deficit on the transaction is presented within contributed surplus. 
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c) Drilling and Other Equipment 

 

i. Recognition and Measurement 

Items of drilling and other equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses.   

 

Cost is comprised of the acquisition price, costs directly attributable to the acquisition and preparation costs of the 

asset until the time when it is ready to be put into operation.  Where material, borrowing costs directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to be 

ready for use) are included in capitalized cost.  Borrowing costs have not been material to the cost of assets for 

any period presented.  The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour and any 

other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use.  No borrowing 

costs were capitalized in 2014 and 2013. 

 

Drilling and other equipment also include parts and raw materials awaiting assembly.  These assets are recorded 

at cost and no depreciation is taken until the asset is completed and available for intended use. 

 

When parts of an item of drilling and other equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of drilling and other equipment.   

 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of drilling and other equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 

from disposal with the carrying amount of drilling and other equipment, and are recognized net within other income 

in the Corporation’s profit or loss.  

 

ii. Subsequent Costs 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of drilling and other equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the 

item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Corporation, and its 

cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-

day servicing of drilling and other equipment (repair and maintenance) are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or 

loss as incurred. 
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iii. Depreciation 

Depreciation expense is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of drilling 

and other equipment and is calculated using the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 

amount substituted for cost, less its residual value.   

 

Significant components of individual assets are assessed, and if a component has a useful life that is different from 

the remainder of that asset, then that component is depreciated separately. 

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Directional drilling equipment 4 to 8 years straight-line, 0 to 20 percent residual value 

EDR equipment 2 to 10 years straight-line 

Office and computer equipment 3 to 5 years straight-line 

Machinery and equipment 5 years straight-line 

Vehicles 5 years straight-line 

Building 20 years straight-line 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted if 

appropriate.   

 

d) Intangible Assets and Goodwill 
 

i. Goodwill 

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

 

ii. Research and Development Costs 

Expenditure on research activities undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge 

and understanding is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved product and 

process. Development expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product 

or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Corporation 

intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure 

capitalized includes the cost of materials, direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the 

asset for its intended use, and borrowing costs. Other development expenditures are recognized in profit or  

loss as incurred.  



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2014 Annual Report 

 

 

 
-60- 

Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. 

 

iii. Other Intangible Assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Corporation and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. 

 

iv. Subsequent Expenditure 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 

asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill is recognized 

in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

v. Amortization 

Amortization is calculated to write-off the costs of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss.  Goodwill is not 

amortized. 

 

 The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 Licenses   10 to 15 years 

 Technology  10 years 

 Customer relationships 10 years 

 

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate. 

 

e) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of inventories is based on the 

first-in first-out method, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion 

costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.     

 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and selling expenses.  
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f) Asset Held for Sale 
Non-current assets that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale rather than continuing use, are 

classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held for sale, the assets are measured in 

accordance with the Corporation’s accounting policies.  Thereafter, the assets are measured at the lower of their 

carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.  Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and 

subsequent gains and losses on re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.  Once classified as held for sale, 

drilling and other equipment is no longer amortized or depreciated. 

 

 

g) Impairment 

i. Financial Assets (Including Receivables) 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to determine 

whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates 

that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect 

on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring 

of an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider otherwise, and indications 

that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy. 

 

The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level. All individually 

significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 

original effective interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and are reflected in an allowance account 

against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized through the unwinding of the 

discount. When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in 

impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.  

 

ii. Non-Financial Assets 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are 

reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication 

exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite 

useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time. 
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The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are 

grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. For the purposes of goodwill impairment 

testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the group of CGUs that is expected to benefit 

from the synergies of the combination. This allocation is subject to an operating segment ceiling test and reflects 

the lowest level at which that goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes.  As at December 31, 2014, the 

Corporation re-assessed its CGUs and separated the EDR business, Stream Services (“Stream”), as its own CGU.  

Goodwill was allocated to the Canadian and Stream CGUs. 

 

The Corporation’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows. If there is an indication that a  

corporate asset may be impaired, then the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the corporate 

asset belongs. 

 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are 

allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying 

amounts of the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized 

in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer 

exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 

loss had been recognized. 

 

iii. Employee Benefits 

Short-term employee benefits  

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 

service is provided. 
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A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Corporation 

has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 

employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognized as an employee 

expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally become 

entitled to the awards (vesting period). The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of 

awards for which the related service and non-market vesting conditions are expected to be met, such that the 

amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related service 

and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.  

 

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of Retention Awards, which are settled in cash, is 

recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period that the employees 

unconditionally become entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date and at settlement 

date.  Any changes in the fair value of the liability are recognized as personnel expense in profit or loss. 

 

h) Provisions 
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to 

settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding 

of the discount is recognized as finance cost. 

 

i) Revenue 
Revenue from drilling services rendered is recognized in profit and loss as services are provided based on the 

proportion of total services delivered at the statement of financial position date. EDR rental revenue is recognized 

based on completion of each rental day for products and services.  The Corporation’s services are sold based 

upon bid acceptance or contracts with customers that include fixed or determinable prices based upon daily, hourly 

or job rates.  The criteria for recognition of revenue are: 

 probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, 

 stage of completion of the transaction at the statement of financial position date can be measured 

reliably, 

 amount of revenue can be measured reliably, and 

 costs incurred and costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.  
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Based on these criteria, revenue is recognized in the period in which services are rendered.  Revenue is measured 

at the fair value of the consideration received and is recorded net of sales tax, duties, customer discounts and 

similar charges.  Where the contract outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognized only to the 

extent that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered. 

 

Revenue is reported net of supplier costs when the Corporation is acting as an agent between the client and the 

supplier.  Factors considered to determine whether the Corporation is a principal or an agent are whether it is the 

primary obligor to the client, it assumes credit and delivery risks, or it adds meaningful value to the supplier’s 

product or service. 

 

Income from recharges of freight and other activities which are incidental to the normal revenue generating 

activities is included in drilling service revenue. 

 

j) Leases 
 

i. Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease 

At inception of an arrangement, the Corporation determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease. 

 

At inception or on re-assessment of an arrangement that contains a lease, the Corporation separates payments 

and other consideration required by the arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 

basis of their relative fair values.  If the Corporation concludes for a finance lease that it is impractical to separate 

the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of the 

underlying asset; subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance cost on the 

liability is recognized using the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate. 

 

ii. Leased Assets 

Assets held by the Corporation under leases that transfer to the Corporation substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. The leased assets are measured initially at an amount equal 

to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 

recognition, the assets are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognized in the Corporation’s 

statement of financial position. 

 

 

iii. Lease Payments 
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Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 

lease. 

 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as 

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

 

k) Finance Income and Finance Expense 
Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in the 

Corporation’s profit or loss, using the effective interest method.  

 

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognized in the Corporation’s profit or loss 

using the effective interest method. 

 

l) Income Tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in profit or 

loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination or items recognized directly in equity or in other 

comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax  

rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 

recognized for the following temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, and differences relating 

to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse 

in the foreseeable future. In addition, deferred tax is not recognized for taxable temporary differences arising on the 

initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to 

temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 

the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
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entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax 

assets and liabilities will be realized simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the 

extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax 

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 

related tax benefit will be realized. 

 

Tax exposures 

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Corporation takes into account the impact of uncertain 

tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due.  This assessment relies on estimates and 

assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events.  New information may become available 

that causes the Corporation to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 

changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 

 

m) Earnings per Share 
The Corporation presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares.  Basic per share 

amounts are calculated by dividing the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Corporation by 

the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for own shares held.  

Diluted per share amounts are calculated by adjusting the earnings or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 

and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of 

all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees. 

 

n) Segment Reporting 
An operating segment is a component of the Corporation that engages in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 

Corporation’s other components. All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed regularly by the 

Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment 

and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available. 

 

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 

can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the 

Corporation’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities.  

 

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire drilling and other equipment, and 

intangible assets other than goodwill. 
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 4. New Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Adopted: 
 

Certain new standards, interpretations, amendments and improvements to existing standards are effective for 

accounting periods beginning on after January 1, 2015.  These standards have not been applied in preparing these 

consolidated financial statements.  Those which may be relevant to the Corporation are set out below.   

 

a) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2014)  

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement.  IFRS 9 includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 

including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general 

hedge accounting requirements.  It also carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 

instruments from IAS 39.  IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, 

with early adoption permitted.  The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact that the standard will have on its 

results of operations and financial position and is assessing when adoption will occur. 

 

b) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is 

recognized.  It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue.  IFRS 15 is effective for 

annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Corporation 

intends to adopt IFRS 15 for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2017. The Company is currently evaluating 

the impact that the standard will have on its results of operations and financial position. 

 
 

 5. Inventories: 
 

Inventories are mainly comprised of drilling and other equipment repair parts.  In 2014, consumed repair parts, which 

are included in direct costs, amounted to $50.1 million (2013 - $44.2 million). 
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 6. Drilling and Other Equipment: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 

Directional 
Drilling 

Equipment 
EDR 

Equipment 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Office and 
Computer 

Equipment 
Development 

Costs Vehicles Building Land Total 

Cost  
 

       

Balance at  
   Jan. 1, 2014 219,213 8,393 9,864 9,275 3,703 1,938 2,417 139 254,942 

Additions 53,943 1,877 5,616 6,553 - 270 23 - 68,282 

Disposals (19,399) (1,332) (727) (974) (19) (197) - - (22,648) 

Effect of movement  
   in exchange rate (2,832) (304) (731) 19 - 34 220 13 (3,581) 

Balance at  
   Dec. 31,  2014 250,925 8,634 14,022 14,873 3,684 2,045 2,660 152 296,995 

Accumulated Depreciation 

 

 

 

   

Balance at  
  Jan. 1, 2014 78,234 73 5,322 2,909 1,791 608 233 - 89,170 

Depreciation for  
   the year 23,366 1,674 1,775 2,105 1,549 423 - - 30,892 

Disposals (7,556) (762) (595) (799) (18) (85) - - (9,815) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate (3,850) - (241) (160) - (43) 150 - (4,144) 

Balance at  
  Dec. 31,  2014 90,194 985 6,261 4,055 3,322 903 383 - 106,103 

Carrying amounts  
  at Dec. 31,  2014 160,731 7,649 7,761 10,818 362 1,142 2,277 152 190,892 
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 
Directional 

Drilling 
Equipment 

EDR 
Equipment 

Machinery 
and 

Equipment 

Office and 
Computer 

Equipment 
Development 

Costs Vehicles Building Land Total 

Cost          

Balance at  
   Jan. 1, 2013 195,534 - 7,724 4,803 3,544 1,375 1,079 130 214,189 

Acquisitions 
through business 
combinations - 8,144 9 301 - 507 - - 8,961 

Additions 33,238 405 2,203 4,511 - 476 985 - 41,818 

Disposals (9,743) (128) (96) (441) (336) (243) - - (10,987) 

Write-down of 
technological 
assets (2,002) - - - - - - - (2,002) 

Effect of movement  
   in exchange rate 2,186 (28) 24 101 495 (177) 353 9 2,963 

Balance at  
   Dec. 31, 2013 219,213 8,393 9,864 9,275 3,703 1,938 2,417 139 254,942 

Accumulated Depreciation   

 

     

Balance at  
   Jan. 1, 2013 61,336 - 4,057 2,296 1,483 521 126 - 68,819 

Depreciation for  
   the year 21,299 126 1,399 988 162 253 96 - 24,323 

Disposals (3,892) (53) (79) (436) (336) (176) - - (4,972) 

Write-down of 
technological 
assets (757) - - - - - - - (757) 

Effect of movement  
  in exchange rate 248 - (55) 61 482 10 11 - 757 

Balance at  
   Dec. 31, 2013 78,234 73 5,322 2,909 1,791 608 233 - 89,170 

Carrying amounts 
   at Jan. 1, 2013 134,198 - 3,667 2,507 2,061 854 953 130 144,370 

Carrying amounts 
at Dec. 31, 2013 140,979 8,320 4,542 6,366 1,912 1,330 2,184 139 165,772 

 

 

Capital Commitments 
As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation has entered into commitments to purchase drilling and other equipment 

for $11.9 million; delivery is expected to occur within the next quarter. 
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 7. Goodwill: 
 

  Amount 

Balance as at January 1, 2013  $ 8,876,351 

Acquisition through business combination (Note 22)    22,353,405 

Balance as at December 31, 2013  $ 31,229,756 

    

Impairment loss   $ (15,000,000) 

Balance as at December 31, 2014  $ 16,229,756 

 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at the end of each year, or more frequently if events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired.  

 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the Corporation’s cash-generating units which represent 

the lowest levels within the Corporation at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.   

 

Of the aggregate carrying amount of goodwill as at December 31, 2014, $8.9 million was allocated to the Canadian 

CGU and $7.3 million was allocated to the Stream CGU. 

 

a) Canada 

The recoverable amount of the Canadian CGU was determined using calculations of value in use, which is the 

present value of projected future cash flows based on the five-year budget approved by Management.  Value in 

use as at December 31, 2014 was determined similarly as in 2013. The following key assumptions were used in 

the discounted cash flow projections: 

 2015 budgeted EBITDA, which is significantly lower than the 2014 results, and an average growth rate of 

20 percent for the next four years.  The growth rate was estimated based on past experience, actual 

operating results and the five-year business plan commencing 2015. 

 Terminal growth rate of 2 percent based on Management’s estimate, consistent with the assumptions 

that a market participant would make. 

 A pre-tax discount rate of 12 percent that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and risks specific to the Canadian CGU.   

The values assigned to the key assumptions represent Management’s assessment of future trends in the service 

industry and are based on both external sources and internal sources (historical data).   
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The estimated recoverable amount of the CGU exceeded its carrying amount and there was no impairment of 

goodwill for this CGU as of December 31, 2014.  Management has identified that an increase of 11 percent in the 

discount rate could cause the carrying amount of the Canadian CGU to exceed the recoverable amount.   

 

b) Stream 

The recoverable amount of this CGU was determined using calculations of value in use, which is the present value 

of projected future cash flows based on the five-year budget approved by Management.  The key assumptions 

used in the estimation of the recoverable amount were as follows: 

 Budgeted revenue growth rate of 47 percent and EBITDA margin of 31 percent (average of next five 

years) was estimated based on past experience, an industry benchmark, and the five-year business plan 

commencing 2015. 

 Terminal value growth rate of 2.5 percent based on management’s estimate, consistent with the 

assumptions that a market participant would make. 

 A pre-tax discount rate of 26 percent based on the rate of long-term Government of Canada bonds, 

adjusted for a risk specific premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities generally and 

the systematic risk of the specific CGU. 

The carrying amount of the CGU was determined to be higher than its recoverable amount of $35.5 million and as 

a result, an impairment loss of $15.0 million was recognized in 2014 (2013 – nil).  The impairment loss was fully 

allocated to goodwill.  Following the impairment loss recognized in the Corporation’s Stream CGU, the recoverable 

amount was equal to the carrying amount.  Therefore, any adverse movement in a key assumption would lead to 

further impairment. 
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 8. Intangible Assets: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 
Technology License 

Customer 
Relationship 

Development 
Costs 

Systems/ 
Software Total 

Cost    
 

 
 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 7,061 8,500 850 783 - 17,194 

Additions  1,621 7,000 - 393 690 9,704 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 8,682 15,500 850 1,176 690 26,898 

Accumulated amortization 
 

 

Balance at Jan. 1, 2014 46 34 - - - 80 

Amortization for the year 818 333 85 - - 1,236 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2014 864 367 85 - - 1,316 

Carrying amounts at Dec. 31, 2014 7,818 15,133 765 1,176 690 25,582 

 

 

 
 Technology License 

Customer 
Relationship 

Development 
Costs Total 

Cost     
  

Balance at Jan.1, 2013  - - - - - 

Acquisitions through business combination  7,000 5,000 850 - 12,850 

Other acquisitions   61 3,500 - 783 4,344 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2013  7,061 8,500 850 783 17,194 

Accumulated amortization      

Balance at Jan.1, 2013  - - - - - 

Amortization for the year  46 34 - - 80 

Balance at Dec. 31, 2013  46 34 - - 80 

Carrying amounts at Dec. 31, 2013  7,015 8,466 850 783 17,114 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Corporation acquired intangible assets with a total cost of $9.7 million 

(2013 - $17.2 million), of which $7.0 million relates to a license agreement and $0.4 million relates to a technology 

development agreement, both entered into by PHX Energy in 2013.  An additional $10.5 million and $2.9 million, 

respectively, are estimated to be paid, contingent on the licensor and technology developer’s successful completion of 

performance criteria set under the agreements. 
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As at December 31, 2014, the contingent liabilities arising from the agreements are expected to be paid as follows:  

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 2015 2016 2017 Total 

License 5,500 5,000 - 10,500 

Development costs 1,201 870 795 2,866 

Total  6,701 5,870 795 13,366 

 

 

 9. Loans and Borrowings: 
 

On December 12, 2014, the Corporation amended and restated its syndicated loan agreement with its current lending 

syndicate and additional syndicate members to increase its credit facilities to CAD$175 million and US$25 million.  

 

Summarized below are the facilities available to the Corporation, corresponding terms, and carrying amounts: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 
Currency 

Amount of 
Facility Date of Maturity Currency 

Carrying Amount at 
Dec. 31, 2014 Currency 

Carrying Amount at 
Dec. 31, 2013 

Operating Facility CAD 15,000 Due on demand CAD 5,503 CAD - 

Syndicated Facility  CAD 160,000 December 12, 2018 CAD 95,000 CAD 50,000 

US Operating Facility USD 25,000 December 12, 2018 USD 8,000 USD 19,000 

 

Upon request by the Corporation and approval by the lenders, the Syndicated Facility can be expanded through the 

exercise of an additional CAD$50 million accordion option to the Canadian revolving line of credit. 

 

The facilities bear interest based primarily on the Corporation’s debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortization (“EBITDA”) ratio, as defined in the restated agreement.  At the Corporation’s option, interest is at the 

bank’s prime rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 0.50 percent to a maximum of 1.75 percent, or the 

bank’s bankers’ acceptance rate plus a margin that ranges from a minimum of 1.50 percent to a maximum of 2.75 

percent.   

 

The maturity date can be extended annually, provided that the requested new maturity date does not exceed four years.   
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Under the amended syndicated loan agreement, the working capital ratio requirement was removed from the financial 

covenants.  As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation was in compliance with all its financial covenants as follows: 

 

Ratio Covenant   As at December 31, 2014 

Debt to EBITDA  < or = 3.00:1.00  1.28 

Interest coverage ratio > or = 3.00:1.00  20.31 

 

The credit facilities are secured by substantially all of the Corporation's assets.  

 

 

 10. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities: 
 

a) Unrecognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
The Corporation has unrecognized deferred tax assets of $4.4 million (2013 - $4.1 million) in relation to non-capital 

tax losses that can be carried forward against future taxable income of the entities in which the losses arose.  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the losses as they may not be used to offset taxable 

profits elsewhere in the Corporation, and they have arisen in subsidiaries that have not established indicators 

demonstrating it is more likely than not that future profits will be available to utilize those loss carry-forwards.  The 

tax losses expire starting in 2015. There are no other deductible temporary differences that have not been 

recognized at the reporting date.   

 

b) Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 

 

Years ended December 31,  2014  2013 

Deferred income tax liabilities:     

Drilling and other equipment $ 13,017,670 $ 22,831,590 

Partnership income  5,111,629  4,764,938 

Intangible assets  2,704,221  2,243,630 

Investment tax credits  548,109  608,464 

Other   121,087  30,540 

  21,502,716  30,479,162 

Deferred income tax assets:     

Non-capital income tax losses   (6,277,241)  (13,534,051) 

Deferred income  (458,334)  (654,167) 

Other (including intangible assets, foreign and other tax credits)  (7,164,273)  (6,457,234) 

  (13,899,848)  (20,645,452) 

Net deferred income tax liability $ 7,602,868 $ 9,833,710 
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As at December 31, 2014, $6.3 million of deferred income tax assets resulted from non-capital income tax losses in 

Canada (2013 - $5.7 million in Canada, $7.3 million in the US, and $0.5 million in Russia).  The tax losses expire 

starting in 2031. 

 

 

 11. Share Capital: 
 

a) Authorized and Issued Shares 
The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of shares. 

 Number Amount 

Balance as at Jan.1, 2013 28,241,371 $ 99,101,118 

Issued shares pursuant to share option plan  624,150  7,978,966 

Issued shares pursuant to DRIP 90,753  892,838 

Issued shares pursuant to equity financing and private placement 3,490,000  36,296,000 

Issued shares in business combination 1,772,700  22,672,833 

Transaction costs    (1,985,379) 

Tax effect of transaction costs   495,223 

Balance as at Dec. 31, 2013 34,218,974 $ 165,451,599 

    

Issued shares pursuant to share option plan  774,302 $ 10,289,836 

Issued shares pursuant to DRIP 244,563  2,908,905 

Balance as at Dec. 31, 2014 35,237,839 $ 178,650,340 

 

 
b) Weighted-Average Number of Shares 

 

 2014 2013 

Issued shares at January 1, 34,218,974  28,241,371 

    

Effect of share options exercised  485,907  305,180 

Effect of shares issued pursuant to DRIP 97,234  48,625 

Effect of shares issued pursuant to equity financing and private placement -  707,562 

Effect of shares issued pursuant to business combination -  160,272 

Weighted-average number of shares 34,802,115  29,463,009 
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c) Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share 
 

2014 
Income Shares Per Share 

(numerator) (denominator)  Amount 

Basic earnings per share: $ 21,994,897 34,802,115 $ 0.63 

      

Diluted earnings per share:      

Dilutive effect of share option conversions  - 355,627   

Income available to shareholders $ 21,994,897 35,157,742 $ 0.63 

 

      

2013 

Income Shares Per Share 

(numerator) (denominator)  Amount 

Basic earnings per share: $ 36,566,677 29,463,009 $ 1.24 

      

Diluted earnings per share:      

Dilutive effect of share option conversions  - 162,555   

Income available to shareholders $ 36,566,677 29,625,564 $ 1.23 

 
The calculation of diluted earnings per share excluded anti-dilutive options. These are options that would not be 

exercised because their exercise price is higher than the average market value of the shares for the year. Including 

those options would cause the diluted earnings per share to be overstated. The number of excluded options was 

200,000 in 2014 (2013 - 914,334).  

 

 

d) Dividends 
The Corporation pays monthly cash dividends to its shareholders.  During the year ended December 31, 2014, the 

Corporation paid monthly dividends totaling $29.2 million (2013 - $21.4 million).   

 

On December 15, 2014, PHX Energy declared a dividend of $0.07 per share or $2.5 million, payable on January 

15, 2015. In aggregate, dividends of $29.4 million (2013 - $22.0 million) were declared for the year ended 

December 31, 2014. 
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e) Normal Course Issuer Bid (“NCIB”) 
The TSX approved PHX Energy’s NCIB to purchase for cancellation, from time-to-time, up to a maximum of 

1,759,678 common shares of the Corporation.   Purchases of common shares will be made on the open market 

through the facilities of the TSX and through alternative trading systems.  The price which PHX Energy will pay for 

any common shares purchased by it will be the prevailing market price on the TSX or alternate trading systems at 

the time of such purchase.  The NCIB commenced on December 17, 2014 and will terminate on December 16, 

2015 or such earlier time as the NCIB is completed or terminated at the option of the Corporation.  No purchases, 

pursuant to the NCIB, were made by the Corporation during the period from December 17 to December 31, 2014. 

 

 

 12. Share Based Payments: 
 

a) Share Option Program (Equity-Settled) 
PHX Energy has a share option program that entitles key management personnel and other employees to 

purchase shares in the Corporation. Grants under the plan vest as to one-third 6 months from the grant date, one-

third 18 months from grant date and one-third 30 months from grant date. In accordance with these programs, 

options are exercisable using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to 

the date of grant, or in the case of a US option holder, the trading price of the shares ending immediately prior to 

the date of grant.  The options have a term of five years.  

 
Summary of option grants in 2014 

Number Exercise Price  Expiration Date  
Fair 

Value 

200,000 $ 15.81  May 8, 2019 $ 2.35 

200,000  7.71  December 30, 2019  0.33 

400,000       

 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, a total of 774,302 (2013 - 624,150) options were exercised at exercise 

prices between $7.48 and $12.18 (2013 - $7.48 and $12.18), a total of 16,334 (2013 - 87,001) options were 

forfeited, 8,335 (2013 - 87,668) options were cancelled, and no options expired (2013 - 15,000).     

 

As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation had a total of 1,852,030 (2013 - 2,251,001) options outstanding which 

expire over a period of less than 1 year to 5 years. 

 

The fair value of options that were exercised for the year ended December 31, 2014 in the amount of $2,620,245 

(2013 - $2,560,125) has been added to share capital. 
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The Corporation values all of its share options using the Black-Scholes model.  The Corporation’s determination of 

fair value of options on the date of grant is affected by the Corporation’s share price as well as assumptions 

regarding a number of variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the Corporation’s expected share 

price volatility over the term of the options of 32 percent, annual dividends of $0.84, forfeiture rate of 1 percent, and a 

risk free interest rate of 1.51 percent. The amounts computed according to the Black-Scholes model method may not 

be indicative of the actual values realized upon the exercise of these options by the holders.   

 

During 2014, the Corporation recognized a total compensation expense of $771,800 (2013 - $1,061,177) for share 

options granted between 2011 and 2014.  

 

A summary of the status of the plan as at December 31, 2014, is presented below: 

 

 2014 2013 

 
Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price Options 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price 

Outstanding, beginning of year 2,251,001 $ 10.27 2,624,820 $ 9.87 

Granted 400,000  11.76 440,000  10.85 

Exercised (774,302)  9.91 (624,150)  8.68 

Forfeited / cancelled (24,669)  10.99 (174,669)  10.97 

Expired -  - (15,000)  14.23 

Outstanding, end of year 1,852,030 $ 10.74 2,251,001 $ 10.27 

Options exercisable, end of year 1,192,021 $ 10.70 1,482,185 $ 10.20 
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The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at December 31, 2014 are as follows: 

 

 
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Original 
Exercise Price Number 

Weighted-Average 
Remaining Contractual Life 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price Number 

Weighted-Average 
Exercise Price 

$ 7.71 200,000 5.0 yrs $ 7.71 - $ - 

 7.95 1,667 2.6 yrs  7.95 -  - 

 9.10 15,000 2.4 yrs  9.10 15,000  9.10 

 9.14 1,667 3.2 yrs  9.14 -  - 

 9.16 83,334 2.4 yrs  9.16 83,334  9.16 

 9.22 90,001 2.9 yrs  9.22 53,331  9.22 

 9.40 204,500 0.6 yrs  9.21 204,500  9.21 

 10.00 25,000 1.6 yrs  10.00 25,000  10.00 

 10.04 277,822 1.9 yrs  10.04 277,822  10.04 

 10.08 6,667 3.3 yrs  10.08 3,333  10.08 

 10.63 79,170 1.9 yrs  10.63 79,170  10.63 

 10.79 366,700 3.6 yrs  10.79 100,032  10.79 

 11.44 12,501 2.2 yrs  11.44 12,501  11.44 

 12.09 186,001 1.4 yrs  12.09 186,001  12.09 

 12.18 77,000 1.4 yrs  12.18 77,000  12.18 

 12.44 25,000 4.0 yrs  12.44 8,333  12.44 

 15.81 200,000 4.4 yrs  15.81 66,664  15.81 

  1,852,030 2.7 yrs $ 10.74 1,192,021 $ 10.70 

 

b) Retention Award Plan 
The Retention Award Plan results in eligible participants receiving cash compensation in relation to the value of a 

specified number of underlying notional Retention Awards (“RA”).  Retention Awards vest evenly over a period of 

three-years.  Upon vesting and subsequent exercise, the holder is entitled to receive a cash payment based on the 

fair value of the underlying shares determined using the five-day weighted-average trading price of the shares 

ending immediately prior to the exercise date plus accrued re-invested dividends. 

 

The Corporation recorded a total of $1.3 million (2013 - $2.9 million) in compensation expense relating to this plan 

for the year ended December 31, 2014. The expense is included in selling, general and administrative expense 

and has a corresponding liability included in trade and other payables. There were 629,982 RA’s outstanding as at 

December 31, 2014 (2013 - 458,159).  
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c) Distribution Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”) 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Corporation issued 244,563 shares pursuant to the DRIP at prices 

between $7.14 and $15.65. 

 

 

 13. Expenses by Nature: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31, 2014 2013 

Salaries and employee benefits 184,982 126,063 

Share-based payments 2,066 3,989 

Personnel expenses 187,048 130,052 

Equipment expenses 76,863 54,194 

Contract labour 66,980 51,533 

Consumed repair parts 50,122 44,151 

Depreciation and amortization 32,128 24,403 

Field and freight expenses 25,493 19,096 

Facility and office expenses 13,592 10,509 

Travel and entertainment 9,959 6,589 

Insurance and business and sales taxes 3,840 4,622 

Legal and audit fees 2,117 1,736 

Other 5,405 6,432 

Total 473,547 353,317 

 

The total amount of expenses above represents the aggregate of direct costs, selling, general and administrative 

expenses, and research and development expenses in the statements of comprehensive income. 
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 14. Other Income: 
 

Years ended December 31,  2014  2013 

Net gain on disposition of drilling equipment $ (4,729,399) $ (7,419,366) 

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses  (63,493)  232,191 

Provision for bad debts  1,170,332  59,374 

Gains from pre-existing ownership interest in  
   acquired subsidiaries (Note 22) 

 - 
 

(14,757,588) 

Gain on sale of land and operations centre (Note 23)  -  (2,195,886) 

Write-down of technological assets  -  1,244,946 

 $ (3,622,560) $ (22,836,329) 

 

 

 15. Income Taxes: 
 

Years ended December 31,  2014  2013 

Current tax expense:      

Current period $ 12,686,820 $ 3,504,961 

Adjustment for prior periods  478,004  67,049 

  13,164,824  3,572,010 

     

Deferred tax recovery:     

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (2,849,600)  3,307,688 

Adjustment for prior periods  -  - 

  (2,849,600)  3,307,688 

     

Total income tax expense  $ 10,315,224 $ 6,879,698 
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Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 

Years ended December 31,  2014   2013  

       

Net earnings $ 21,994,897  $ 36,566,677  

Total income tax expense  10,315,224   6,879,698  

Earnings before income taxes  32,310,121   43,446,375  

       

Income tax using the Corporation’s domestic tax rate  8,077,530 25%  10,861,594 25% 

Non-taxable portion of gains on disposal of assets   (709,617) (2.2%)  (642,826) (1.5%) 

Non-deductible impairment loss on goodwill  3,750,000 11.6%  - - 

Current year losses in foreign jurisdictions for which no 
     deferred tax asset was recognized  973,387 3.0%  485,150 1.1% 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions  (3,562,176) (11.0%)  (1,609,291) (3.7%) 

Non-deductible share-based payments and other 
    expenses  648,941 2.0%  1,075,976 2.5% 

Non-taxable accounting gains on fair market valuations  -   (3,689,397) (8.5%) 

Other  1,137,159 3.5%  398,492 0.9% 

 $ 10,315,224 31.9% $ 6,879,698 15.8% 

 

 

 16. Operating Segments: 
 

The Corporation provides directional and horizontal oil and natural gas well drilling services. PHX Energy’s reportable 

segments have been aligned geographically as follows: 

 

Information about reportable segments 

 (Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 Canada United States International Total 

Years ended December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

Revenue 190,692 146,896 279,418 182,695 51,357 51,072 521,467 380,663 

Reportable segment profit before  
    income taxes 16,208 22,285 17,232 4,688 12,571 13,156 46,011 40,129 

 

Certain 2013 comparative amounts above have been re-classified to conform to current year presentation. 
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(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  Canada United States International Total 

As at December 31, 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

Drilling and other equipment 160,339 97,425 15,065 48,856 15,488 19,491 190,892 165,772 

Goodwill 16,230 31,230 - - - - 16,230 31,230 

 
 

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit and other material items 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31, 2014 2013 

Reportable segment profit before income taxes 46,011 40,129 

Corporate:   

   Selling, general and administrative expenses 11,096 10,779 

   Research and development expenses 1,995 2,004 

   Finance expense 4,232 4,789 

   Other income (3,622) (22,836) 

   Share of loss of equity-accounted investee - 1,947 

Earnings before income taxes 32,310 43,446 

 

 

 17. Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital: 
 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

Years ended December 31,  2014  2013 

Trade and other receivables $ (24,612) $ (30,471) 

Inventories  (2,399)  (8,191) 

Prepaid expenses  (1,592)  564 

Assets held for sale  -  9,436 

Investment and foreign tax credits  (2,192)  1,062 

Trade and other payables  7,388  26,650 

Impact of foreign exchange rate changes in working capital  (3,471)  (455) 

 $ (26,878) $ (1,405) 
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 18. Financial Instruments: 
 

a) Credit Risk        
The Corporation is exposed to normal credit risks of its customers that exist within the oil and natural gas 

exploration and development industry. The Corporation’s credit risk associated with these customers can be 

directly impacted by a decline in economic conditions, which would impair the customers’ ability to satisfy their 

obligations to the Corporation.  During the year ended December 31, 2014, one customer comprised 8 percent of 

the total revenue (2013 - 7 percent of revenue).  

 
As at December 31, 2014, the ageing of trade and other receivables that were not impaired was as follows: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  2014 

Neither past due nor impaired  $ 73,442 

Past due 1-30 days   32,801 

Past due 31-60 days   11,246 

Past due 61-90 days   2,822 

Past due over 90 days   1,961 

  $ 122,272 

 

All accounts receivable balances that are past due for more than 90 days and were not impaired represent 2 

percent or approximately $2.0 million of total receivables on the statement of financial position at December 31, 

2014.  Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that are past due are still collectible in full, based on 

historic payment behavior and extensive analysis of customer credit risk.  Management has provided an allowance 

of $1.0 million for all amounts it considers uncollectable at December 31, 2014. 

 

The Corporation has a credit management program to assist in managing this risk, which consists of conducting 

financial and other assessments to establish and monitor a customer’s creditworthiness. The Corporation monitors 

and manages its credit risk on an ongoing basis. 

 

b) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Corporation has financial liabilities, thus, is exposed to liquidity risk. The Corporation’s approach to managing 

liquidity risk is to ensure that it always has sufficient cash and credit facilities to meet its obligations when due. 

Management typically forecasts cash flows for a period of twelve-months to identify financing requirements. These 

requirements are then addressed through a combination of demand credit facilities and access to capital markets.  
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The Corporation believes that future cash flows generated by the operations and access to additional liquidity 

through capital and banking markets will be adequate to meet its financial obligations. 

 
The following table reflects the Corporation’s anticipated payment of contractual obligations related to continuing 

operations as at December 31, 2014: 

 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Operating facility 5,503 - - - - 

Loans and borrowings - - - 104,281 - 

Drilling and other equipment 
   purchase commitments 

11,932 - - - - 

Finance leases 239 - - - - 

Trade and other payables  72,203 - - - - 

Dividends payable 2,467 - - - - 

Total  92,344 - - 104,281 - 

 

 

c) Fair Values of Financial Instruments 
The Corporation has designated its trade and other payables and dividends payable as other financial liabilities 

carried at amortized cost.  Accounts receivable are designated as loans and receivables, measured at amortized 

cost.  The Corporation’s carrying values of these items approximate their fair value due to the relatively short 

periods to maturity of the instruments.  Loans and borrowings have been designated as an other financial liability, 

and are measured at amortized cost.  The fair value of loans and borrowings included in the consolidated 

statement of financial position approximates carrying values as the indebtedness is subject to floating rates of 

interest. 

 

d) Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in the market 

interest rates. The Corporation has variable interest long-term debt which exposes it to fluctuations in cash interest 

payment amounts.  

 

A one percent change in interest rates would have increased or decreased the Corporation’s profit by $953,000. 
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e) Foreign Exchange Risk 
Foreign exchange risk is created by fluctuations in the fair values of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates. Due to operations of the Corporation’s subsidiaries in the US, Russia, and Albania, the 

Corporation has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. The carrying values of Canadian dollar, US 

dollar, and Albanian lek (“ALL”) denominated monetary assets and liabilities and earnings are subject to foreign 

exchange risk.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, foreign exchange gains of $63,493 (see Note 14) resulted 

mainly from fluctuations in the USD-CDN exchange rates.  The Corporation reviews options with respect to 

managing its foreign exchange risk periodically. 

 

The following chart represents the Corporation’s exposure to foreign currency risk: 

 

As at December 31, 2014  CAD  USD  ALL 

Cash and cash equivalents  -  1,328,344  177,907 

Trade and other receivables  -  136,205  - 

Trade and other payables   -  (2,417,709)  (4,594,593) 

Intercompany receivables  1,517,301  -  - 

Intercompany payables  (12,440,744)  -  - 

Statement of financial position exposure  (10,923,443)  (953,160)  (4,416,686) 

 

As at December 31, 2013  CAD  USD  ALL 

Cash and cash equivalents  -  688,182  16,774,597 

Trade and other receivables  -  425,261  - 

Trade and other payables   -  (5,913,001)  - 

Intercompany receivables  3,367,590  -  - 

Intercompany payables  (1,806,606)  -  - 

Statement of financial position exposure  1,560,984  (4,799,558)  16,774,597 

 

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year ended December 31: 

 

 Average Rate  December 31, Close Rate 

 2014 2013  2014 2013 

USD 1.1048 1.0301  1.1601 1.0636 

ALL 95.6023 102.4181  99.5520 95.7000 
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A strengthening of the Canadian dollar, US dollar, and Albanian lek against all other currencies as at December 31 

would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a foreign currency and affected 

profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  The analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 

Gain (Loss)  2014  2013 

CAD (10% strengthening) $ (941,595) $ 146,764 

USD (10% strengthening)  (110,576)  (510,481) 

ALL (10% strengthening)  (4,437)  17,528 

 

 

 19. Capital Management: 
 

The Corporation’s primary objective of capital management is to maintain a strong capital base, in conjunction with 

conservative long-term debt levels so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence, and to sustain future 

development of the business.  The Corporation seeks to maintain a balance between higher returns that might be 

possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security created by a strong equity position.  

 

The Corporation’s Management considers the capital structure to consist of long-term debt, including any current portion 

of long-term debt, and shareholders’ equity.  As at December 31, 2014, the Corporation had $104.3 million in loans and 

borrowings and $200.0 million in shareholders’ equity.  The Corporation’s resulting long-term debt to equity ratio was 

0.52 as at December 31, 2014.   

 

The Corporation prepares annual and quarterly operating and capital expenditure budgets, and forecasts to assist with the 

management of its capital.  The Corporation intends to maintain a flexible capital structure and it may alter its dividend 

levels, raise new equity or issue new debt in response to a change in economic conditions. 

 

The Corporation is subject to capital requirements relating to debt covenants on debt facilities held.  As at  

December 31, 2014, the Corporation was in compliance with all debt covenants (see Note 9). 

 

There were no changes to the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year ended December 31, 2014. 
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 20. Operating Leases: 
 

The Corporation is committed to the following minimum payments under operating leases for equipment, vehicles, and 

premises: 

 

  2014  2013 

2015 $ 6,037 $ 5,634 

2016  5,320  5,170 

2017  4,991  4,657 

2018  4,825  4,394 

2019 and after  4,687  4,371 

 

During 2014, $6.1 million was recognized as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of 

operating leases (2013 – $4.1 million).  

 

 

 21. Contingent Liabilities: 
 

a) As previously announced, the Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. (“Phoenix 

USA”), has been named in a legal action in Houston, Texas commenced by a former employee and was subsequently 

joined by two other employees (the "Claimants") alleging that they were improperly classified as exempt under the Fair 

Labour Standards Act and therefore entitled to unpaid overtime.  Legal actions involving similar alleged violations have 

been filed in the United States against a number of other drilling companies.   

 

Subsequent to December 31, 2014, the action was conditionally certified as a collective action which may result in 

additional employees or former employees of Phoenix USA joining the action.  Phoenix USA has filed a defense to the 

action and intends to vigorously defend the same.  Based upon an assessment of latest information available and 

certain assumptions the Corporation believes to be reasonable at this time, PHX Energy believes it has a number of 

defenses to the claims asserted and the action is not currently believed to be material to the Corporation.    

 

b) On February 20, 2015, the Corporation's wholly-owned subsidiary, Phoenix USA, was named in a second legal action in 

Houston, Texas commenced by two former consultants (the "Claimants") alleging that they were improperly classified 

as independent contractors (as opposed to employees) under the Fair Labor Standards Act and are entitled to unpaid 

overtime.  Legal actions involving similar legal theories have been filed in the United States against a number of other 

drilling companies. 
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Given the recent filing of this lawsuit, Phoenix USA is in the early stages of its investigation into the subject matter and 

facts and has not yet been served with the lawsuit.  The Claimants assert that a class of similarly situated individuals 

retained as consultants or contractors should be conditionally certified and notified of the lawsuit and allowed to join.  

However, no such motion to conditionally certify a class has been filed. Phoenix USA intends to file a defense to the 

action and vigorously defend the same including, without limitation, the conditional certification of the action.  Based 

upon the recent filing of the lawsuit, the ongoing initial investigation, and the potential available defenses, PHX Energy 

currently does not believe this action to be material to the Corporation. 

 

 

 22. Acquisition of Subsidiaries: 
 

On May 29, 2013, the Corporation completed the purchase of 20,000,000 common shares of RMS Systems Inc. 

(“RMS”) at a price of $0.15 per common share, or $3.0 million, through a private placement, thereby increasing PHX 

Energy’s ownership interest in RMS to 39.8 percent from 19.5 percent at the end of 2012.  On July 10, 2013, the 

Corporation subscribed for RigManager International Inc.’s (“RMII”) preferred shares for $1.0 million.  

 

On September 25, 2013, PHX Energy and RMS entered into an Arrangement Agreement whereby the Corporation 

agreed to acquire all of the issued and outstanding shares of RMS pursuant to a plan of arrangement under the 

Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the “Arrangement”).  Under the terms of the Arrangement, all shareholders of RMS 

received 0.037209 of a common share of PHX Energy for each RMS share held.  Upon the completion of the 

Arrangement on November 28, 2013, RMS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  RMS was also PHX 

Energy’s only partner to the joint venture entity, RMII.  As a result of the acquisition of RMS, RMII also became a wholly-

owned subsidiary of the Corporation.  RMS and PHX Energy were subsequently amalgamated on January 1, 2014. 

 

Before the acquisition, RMS and RMII were accounted for as equity-accounted investees.  For the 2013-period up to the 

date of acquisition, PHX Energy recognized $1.9 million as its share in the loss of RMS and RMII. 
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a) Consideration Transferred  
On November 28, 2013, the date of acquisition, the Corporation issued an aggregate of 1,772,700 shares of PHX 

Energy in exchange for all the issued and outstanding shares of RMS.  The fair value of the ordinary shares issued 

was determined to be $22.7 million based on the listed share price of the Corporation at November 28, 2013 of 

$12.79 per share. 

 

b) Acquisition-Related Costs  
PHX Energy incurred acquisition-related costs of $194,000 on legal fees and due diligence costs.  These costs 

have been included in selling, general and administrative expenses in 2013. 

 

c) Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 
The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 

acquisition date. 

 

i. RMS Systems Inc. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  November 28, 2013 

Intangible assets   7,850 

Drilling and other equipment  7,314 

Net deferred tax assets  1,866 

Trade and other receivables  981 

Prepaid expenses  177 

Trade and other payables  (1,644) 

Finance leases  (471) 

Loans and borrowings  (221) 

Total identifiable net assets acquired  15,852 

 

ii. RigManager International Inc. 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  November 28, 2013 

Intangible assets   5,000 

Drilling and other equipment  1,646 

Trade and other receivables  489 

Cash and cash equivalents  334 

Prepaid expenses  49 

Trade and other payables  (556) 

Net deferred tax liabilities  (474) 

Total identifiable net assets acquired  6,488 
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iii. Measurement of Fair Values 

 

Drilling and other equipment Market comparison technique and cost technique: The valuation model considers quoted 
market prices for similar items when available, and depreciated replacement cost when 
appropriate.  Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical deterioration  
as well as functional and economic obsolescence. 

Intangible assets Relief-from-royalty method: The relief-from-royalty method considers the discounted 
estimated royalty payments that are expected to be avoided as a result of the technology  
and license being owned. 

 

 

d) Goodwill 
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognized as follows: 

(Stated in thousands of dollars) 

  November 28, 2013 

Consideration transferred  22,673 

Fair value of pre-existing interest in RMS  15,021 

Fair value of pre-existing interest in RMII  7,000 

Subtotal  44,694 

Fair value of identifiable net assets in RMS  (15,852) 

Fair value of identifiable net assets in RMII  (6,488) 

Goodwill  22,354 

 
 

The re-measurement to fair value of the Corporation’s existing 39.85 percent interest in RMS resulted in a gain of 

$11.3 million ($15.0 million less $3.7 million carrying amount of equity-accounted investee at the acquisition date) 

and the re-measurement to fair value of the Corporation’s existing 50 percent interest in RMII resulted in a gain of 

$3.4 million ($7.0 million less $3.6 million carrying amount of equity-accounted investee at the acquisition date).  

These amounts have been included in other income (see Note 14). 

 

The goodwill is attributable mainly to the synergies expected to be achieved from the integration of RMS and RMII 

into PHX Energy’s existing horizontal and directional drilling business across different regions worldwide.  None of 

the goodwill recognized was expected to be deductible for tax purposes. 

 

  



PHX Energy Services Corp. | 2014 Annual Report 

 

 

 
-92- 

 23. Assets Held for Sale: 
 

At December 31, 2012, a piece of land and operations centre under construction in Canada were presented as assets 

held for sale of $9.4 million following Management’s commitment to a plan to sell the land and operations centre as a 

package on a sale-and-leaseback arrangement.  On August 23, 2013, the construction of the operations centre was 

substantially completed and consequently, the sale transaction closed September 17, 2013.   PHX Energy received 

gross proceeds of $23.1 million from the sale.   

 

The fair value of the land and operations centre was $21.1 million and was determined by an external and independent 

property valuer.  The corresponding cost amounted to $18.9 million.  The sale transaction was accounted for as follows: 

 

   

Proceeds from sale of land and operations centre $ 23,100,000 

Less:   
     Fair value of land and operations centre 

 
21,100,000 

Deferred income $ 2,000,000 

 

   

Fair value of land and operations centre $ 21,100,000 

Less:   
     Cost of the land and operations centre 

 
18,904,114 

Gain on sale of land and operations centre $ 2,195,886 

 

 

The $2.0 million difference between the proceeds and the fair value of the land and operations centre was recognized 

as deferred income and is being amortized over the lease term of 15 years as a reduction to the related lease expense.  

The amortization of deferred income in 2014 was $133,332.   

 

The gain from the sale of the land and operations centre of $2.2 million was recognized immediately and was included 

in other income in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in 2013 (see Note 14).   

 

The Corporation’s operating lease commitment resulting from the leaseback arrangement is an average of $1.9 million 

per year.   
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 24. Related Parties: 
 

Transactions with Key Management Personnel 
 

Key management personnel compensation 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 

the activities of the Corporation as a whole.  The Corporation determined that key management personnel consists of 

members of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, Senior Vice Presidents and Vice Presidents reporting directly to the 

Chief Executive Officer. 

 

In addition to their salaries, the Corporation also provides its executive officers with annual incentives which consist of 

bonuses and commissions that the Compensation Committee considers comparable to benefits provided to executives 

of other publicly traded oil and natural gas service companies. 

 

Executive officers also participate in the Corporation’s share option program and Retention Award Plan (see Note 12).   

 
The Corporation, either directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries, has entered into executive employment 

agreements with certain executive officers that provide for termination payments.  These agreements continue 

indefinitely until terminated in accordance with the terms thereof and the base salary payable thereunder is subject to 

annual review. 

 

Key management personnel compensation comprised: 

 

Years ended December 31,  2014  2013 

Base salaries, benefits, and directors’ remuneration $ 1,972,531 $ 1,939,120 

Short-term bonuses and commissions  8,170,931  4,638,282 

Share-based payments  1,188,275  1,655,140 

 $ 11,331,737 $ 8,232,542 

 

Key management personnel and director transactions 

Directors of the Corporation control 18 percent of the shares of the Corporation. 

 

Directors are entitled to receive an annual retainer as well as a fee for each meeting of the Board or Committee of the 

Board attended.  The Chairman of the Board and the Lead Director receive an additional annual retainer, as do the 

Chairs of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.  

Directors are also entitled to participate in the Retention Award plan (see Note 12) and can elect to receive certain 
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percentages of these fees as Retention Awards under the Retention Award Plan.   As at December 31, 2014, the 

directors have 146,100 of Retention Awards outstanding (2013 - 129,922). 

 

From time-to-time, Directors of the Corporation, or their related entities, may purchase goods or services from the 

Corporation.  These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Corporation 

employees or customers.  For the year ended December 31, 2014, no purchase of goods or services from or to a 

related party occurred.  

 
 

 25. Significant Subsidiaries: 
 

 
Country of Incorporation 

Ownership Interest 

2014 2013 

Phoenix Technology Services Inc. Canada 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Services LP Canada 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Services USA Inc. USA 100% 100% 

Phoenix Technology Services Luxembourg Sarl. Luxembourg 100% - 

Phoenix Technology Services International Ltd.1 Cyprus 100% 100% 

Phoenix TSR LLC Russia 100% 100% 

1 Entity holds a significant branch in Albania. 
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